
Cabinet
Date: Thursday, 8 December 2016
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Patrick Sebastian 
Tel: 0151 691 8424
e-mail: patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER'S UPDATE

3. EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS 

Key Decisions – taken under delegated powers. Period 28 October, 
2016 (date of publication of last Cabinet agenda) to date.

 Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure
Parking Enforcement Contract Extension

Call-in expired on 17 November, 2016.

Public Document Pack



4. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY (TO FOLLOW) 

Further to minute 71 (Council - 14 November, 2016), the Council is 
requested to consider the report of the Chief Executive on the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and the draft Orders.

5. DELIVERING WIRRAL'S GROWTH                                 (Pages 1 - 8)

6. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 
2015/16                                                                            (Pages 9 - 28)

7. REVENUE MONITORING 2016/17 (QUARTER 2)       (Pages 29 - 42)

8. CAPITAL MONITORING 2016/17 (QUARTER 2)         (Pages 43 - 58)

9. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING MID-YEAR 2016/17 
(Pages 59 - 76)

10. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND COUNCIL TAX 
BUDGET 2017/18                                                          (Pages 77 - 92)

11. TAX BASE 2017/18                                                     (Pages 93 - 104)

12. BUDGET COUNCIL AGENDA AND PROCEDURE - 6 MARCH 2017 
(Pages 105 - 114)

CABINET MEMBER REPORTS

13. WIRRAL PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE: 2016/17 QUARTER 2 
(Pages 115 - 118)

14. DISPOSAL OF ACRE LANE PROFESSIONAL EXCELLENCE 
CENTRE BROMBOROUGH                                      (Pages 119 - 126)

15. CHANGES TO THE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS - LEASOWE 
COMMUNITY HOMES                                               (Pages 127 - 222)

16. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1) 

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

17. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
paragraph 3* of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that Act. The 
Public Interest test has been applied and favours exclusion. 



[* paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)] 

18. DISPOSAL OF ACRE LANE PROFESSIONAL EXCELLENCE 
CENTRE BROMBOROUGH - EXEMPT APPENDIX 

(Pages 223 - 224)

19. LEASOWE COMMUNITY HOMES CONSTITUTION - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX                                                                 (Pages 225 - 286)

20. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2) 

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET
8TH DECEMBER 2016

Delivering Wirral’s Growth

Councillor Phil Davies, Leader of Wirral Council, said:

“In 2020 Wirral has to be self-sufficient – the only money we will have to invest in our 
borough, in the services residents rely on, will be the money we can raise ourselves. This 
simple fact puts strengthening our economy, supporting businesses to grow and 
encouraging businesses to move here and create jobs, at the top of our agenda. 

“We have big ambitions for Wirral and, working with our partners in the Liverpool City 
Region and throughout the North West, we must maximise the impact of the huge 
opportunities before us: downtown Birkenhead, New Brighton, Bromborough Business 
Park, Hoylake Golf Resort and more. 

“This report proposes the development of a new company to drive these efforts. Building 
on the success delivered by Liverpool and Manchester over the past decade, this new 
company would provide Wirral with the ability to promote itself, attract investors and 
translate their interest into sustainable new businesses, economic growth and jobs for 
Wirral residents.”

REPORT SUMMARY
Economic development has become a major local government activity over the past two 
decades. This is because many cities and boroughs have recognised how important it is to 
support the growth in jobs in their area and in particular, have looked to attract highly 
skilled jobs which pay well. 

To support this, a range of policies have been adopted in relation to land clearance, retail 
development, public transport, roads, housing, and marketing. Where councils initially 
concentrated on creating an environment for businesses to flourish, changes to the UK 
economy have prompted a more assertive and commercial approach to regeneration. 

As government capital grant reduces and access to traditional bank finance becomes 
harder for the private sector to raise, councils are exploring opportunities for new ways to 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



2

lever in investment to support growth, including the use of their own property and land 
assets, borrowing, pension funds and more flexibility to be active in the bond markets. 

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a ‘power of competence’ which further encouraged 
councils to introduce innovative trading models around development companies in 
recognition that the private sector and investors want to work with council’s through 
specific company structures. 

Wirral Council is no different. The implementation of the council’s new operating model 
has put the organisation in a position where we are more able to understand and capitalise 
on the opportunity for growth in the borough: studies have been commissioned to 
understand how transport and infrastructure can be improved, strategic land acquisitions 
have been made and proposals are being developed for further land assembly. The 
council is regularly being contacted by leading investors and is working towards the launch 
of a compelling investment proposition to further drive awareness of and interest in Wirral 
as a place to do business. 

Whilst the strategic leadership of the growth agenda will sit within the council alongside 
other related statutory functions such as planning, there is a need to create delivery 
structures which can more easily partner and work with the private sector. Through the 
council’s Transformation Programme, work is being undertaken to complete an options 
appraisal to establish a property company (PropCo). This will be presented to Cabinet in 
February 2017. It is anticipated this company will lead the council’s development activity 
and secure increased income for the council which can be used to support service 
delivery.

The preliminary work undertaken to develop this options appraisal for a property company 
has identified an urgent need to initiate further activity to:

 More effectively promote Wirral’s growth agenda and potential to investors in a 
strategic, structured, highly professional and commercial fashion. 

 Promote opportunities to existing businesses to secure improved and increased 
space. 

 Ensure inward investment is managed in an integrated and strategic way with our 
partners

 Join up Partners, Council, Investors, Businesses and Residents around a single 
vision for Wirral’s regeneration.

This paper recommends further work is undertaken over the next four weeks with a view to 
establishing the case for a wholly owned Local Authority company, in addition to the 
proposed PropCo, to undertake the work set out above. This activity supports the 
ambitions of the Wirral Plan, in particular the Pledges and priorities described within the 
Wirral Growth Plan. This matter affects all Wards within the Borough. It is not a key 
decision. 

Page 2



3

RECOMMENDATION/S

Cabinet are requested to: 

1. Instruct officers to develop a business case and supporting business plan 
confirming the viability of the preferred option, to be considered by Cabinet at 
its meeting in January 2017. 

2. In the case of a viable arm’s-length company, instruct officers to develop a 
legal framework and governance structure for approval. 

3. Authorise officers to assemble a project team to progress work on the set up 
of a new structure.

Page 3



4

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
Driving economic growth and ensuring Wirral is best placed to generate investment 
is crucial to the future of the borough. The recommendations ensure the council 
completes a robust business case, exploring all options, before final decisions are 
taken. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Other options are considered as part of this paper and will be further explored in the 
further report to Cabinet in January 2017. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The proposals contained in this report provide a direct contribution to a number of 
the Pledges within the Wirral Plan, including: 

 Increase inward investment
 Greater job opportunities in Wirral
 Thriving small businesses
 Assets and buildings are fit for purpose

In order to make a step change in the regeneration of the borough, work is 
underway on an options appraisal to support the council in the set-up of a Property 
Company (subject to member agreement). It is proposed this company will work 
with investor partners to undertake development in the borough to:

 Accelerate growth in jobs and housing
 Secure additional private and government investment
 Create profitable and transparent relationships with developers and 

investors which deliver financial and regeneration benefits
 Maximise developments and minimise risk to the council by providing 

dedicated delivery arrangements and property and commercial expertise.

Work on the options appraisal will be presented to Cabinet in February 2017 and 
subject to agreement would lead to the full establishment of the company in 
September 2017. This is to enable development to commence in 2017. Whilst the 
options appraisal for the Property Company (PropCo) is being developed, it is 
recognised there is a gap in terms of how:

 The scale of opportunity to invest in Wirral’s growth is defined and 
presented to investors

 Interest from investors and businesses is managed and coordinated
 A strategically targeted outreach, marketing and lead-generation 

campaign is developed
 Residents can play a meaningful role in the regeneration consultation 

process
 The opportunity can be articulated in a way that ensures that the right 

delivery vehicle (PropCo) is recommended

Page 4



5

 Council services are changed to support business growth and to secure 
commercial opportunities.

In simple terms, the council has been strengthening, at pace, its strategic 
leadership of growth/regeneration work and through its Transformation Programme 
is developing the ‘how’ mechanism (PropCo) to deliver it. Currently underdeveloped 
is the work to translate the borough’s strategic ambition into a detailed proposition 
which can be effectively ‘sold’ to investor targets. 

It is imperative the council has an emerging proposition for investors by early 2017 
and that by March 2017, when the MIPIM Conference takes place, is able to set out 
its offer to investors. This annual conference for investors is the key opportunity to 
meet and pitch to the world’s major development investors and banks. 

Having considered some of the strong local authority models including Liverpool 
City Council, Leeds City Council, Birmingham City Council and Manchester Council, 
it is clear this work needs to be progressed in a commercial way to ensure that the 
market is able to engage quickly with the council to exploit development 
opportunities. Best practice illustrates this is done through arm’s length companies. 
In other places they have demonstrated that they can move quickly, embrace 
enterprise and innovation and generate their own income.

There are three approaches Wirral council could take;

 Undertake the work using in-house resources 
 Commission the work 
 Set up a structure to undertake the activity

In-house Delivery

The council has limited resources with the experience and skills to work with 
investors. Those it has are involved in developing the strategic framework for 
Birkenhead Regeneration and then will work on the wider borough’s needs and 
opportunities. In order to deliver the work identified, further resource would need to 
be secured. In terms of the communications and marketing work, there are limited 
resources internally which would need to be supplemented by staff who have 
experience of a commercial investor/property environment. 

Given the way in which multiple PR products will need to be secured, it is likely 
better value for money could be secured through a partnership arrangement rather 
than direct employment by the council. The real weakness with this option is it is 
difficult to bring a real focus to this work when it is a small part of the organisation’s 
overall delivery agenda. 

Commission the work  

In the longer term, Wirral would wish to partner with others in the city region to 
undertake this type of work. Setting Wirral’s ambition within the context of 
Merseyside and the North West is consistent with our approach. 

However, there is not yet agreement across the city region as to how this work will 
be organised and delivered. Given the imperative to initiate work quickly and to 

Page 5



6

manage the dialogue with investors and residents, the council will need to make 
alternative arrangements in the interim. 

Consideration has been given to commissioning the work outside of the North West 
but an understanding of the borough, its unique offer and growth potential is best 
expressed by an organisation based here.

Create a function to undertake the work

Experience from other councils shows the management of the investor interface 
and its associated lead generation work is most successfully managed as part of a 
discrete organisation at arm’s length from the council. 

The significant majority of councils who in the last year have announced significant 
private investment in development, including Aberdeen Council, have an arm’s 
length interface promoting their offer to investors. It is a tried and tested approach 
that brings results particularly when partnered with a separate PropCo focussed on 
site specific development activity. It is this model, of two arm’s length companies, 
steered by the council’s strategic growth function that officers are bringing forward 
to members over the next few months. 

Recommended Option for further work  

It is recommended work is undertaken quickly to investigate the initial assumption a 
wholly owned arm’s length company be established to:

 Turn the strategic Development Framework into a compelling case for 
investors in a way which is coordinated with the City Region and local 
businesses/partners, take the case to investors

 Develop the regeneration proposition for MIPIM
 Develop and lead the consultation framework for the Birkenhead 

Regeneration

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The financial implications for these proposals will be considered as part of the 
business case.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The legal and governance implications for these proposals will be considered as 
part of the business case.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS
The implications for these proposals will be considered as part of the business 
case.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
All risks associated with this programme will be identified and managed as part of 
the business case.

Page 6



7

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
Where consultation is required, it will be delivered following any agreement of the 
business case in early 2017. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
Equality implications will be considered as part of the business case development 
process. 

REPORT AUTHOR: (Stewart Halliday)
(Transformation Programme
telephone:  (0151 691 8523 )
email:   stewarthalliday@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



-

 
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND

ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER

 2015/16

Councillor Phil Davies (Leader of the Council) said:

‘Wirral Council’s accounts have once again received an unqualified opinion from our 
external auditors – demonstrating the confidence with which our financial management is 
viewed.

External Audit has rightly highlighted the findings of the recent Ofsted inspection into 
Children’s Services as an issue, and has highlighted it in their Value for Money 
assessment. Improvements to these services continue at pace, and the Council remains 
committed to delivering the excellent services Wirral residents deserve.’ 

REPORT SUMMARY

The Council Constitution allocates responsibility for the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts to the Audit & Risk Management Committee. The draft Statement for 2015/16 
published on 30 June 2016 was subject to audit by Grant Thornton, the Councils’ External 
Auditors, and their findings were presented and approved at the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee on 26 September 2016. The Statement of Accounts 2015/16 
was published on 30 September 2016 – the statutory deadline for publication.

The Accounts includes the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) accounts as the Council is 
the Administering Authority for MPF. As the MPF receives a separate Audit Findings 
Report this was considered by Pensions Committee on 19 September 2016 and Audit & 
Risk Management Committee as part of the approval of the Accounts. These have been 
finalised, including publication and are reported to Cabinet for information and noting.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



The Annual Governance Statement 2015/16 and action plan was considered and 
approved at the same meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 was presented to Audit and Risk Management 
committee on 22 November 2016.

This is a key decision which affects all Wards within the Borough.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the Statement of Accounts 2015/16 and Annual Audit Letter be noted.

2. That progress on delivering the actions identified in the Annual Governance 
Statement will be monitored by Audit & Risk Management Committee.

Page 10



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Audit & Risk Management Committee has responsibility for approving the 
Statement of Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement on behalf of the 
Council which is a requirement under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
2.1 No other options have been considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
3.1 The purpose of the Statement of Accounts is to present the overall financial 

position of the Council at 31 March 2016 in accordance with prescribed guidance – 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the 
Code). This is updated annually and specifies the accounting principles and 
practices required to prepare a Statement of Accounts which present a true and 
fair view of the financial position.

3.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Council produces a 
statement of accounts which meets set requirements. The Regulations 2015 state 
that the Accounts must be approved by an appropriate Committee no later than 30 
September. The Head of Financial Services, as Acting Section 151 Officer, 
certified the Accounts by 30 June 2016, the statutory deadline. At that date, the 
Accounts were issued and made publicly available. 

3.3 The Accounts published were subject to audit. Under National Audit Commission 
audit arrangements for Local Government, Grant Thornton, as the Council’s 
appointed external auditor, reports on the financial statements. The Section 151 
Officer- Head of Financial Services re-certified the presentation of the annual 
accounts in September. As stipulated by the Regulations, these were then 
considered and arrangements for final approved prior to publication were agreed 
by resolution of Members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The 
accounts were subsequently signed by the Chair of the committee. Following this 
publication took place on the 30 September and included the opinions that had 
been issued by Grant Thornton. 

3.4 The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is 
necessary to meet the statutory requirement set out in Regulation 6 of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015.This report presents Cabinet with 
the final Annual Governance Statement and an action plan for endorsement by 
Members. The Audit and Risk Management Committee approved the AGS to 
enable publication within the Statement of Accounts to take place.

Page 11



THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

3.5 At the Audit & Risk Management Committee meeting Grant Thornton reported that 
no adjustments affecting the financial position had been identified. The finalisation 
of audit work following the Committee resulted in no further changes and the 
Accounts were published on 30 September 2016.

3.6 The financial position of the Council following the audit was therefore as reported 
to Cabinet on 18 July 2016. This showed an in year revenue underspend of £1.3 
million and year-end balances of £22.2 million.

AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT, OPINION AND ANNUAL LETTER

3.7 Audit & Risk Management Committee on 26 September 2016 considered the Audit 
Findings Report issued by Grant Thornton. The report identified that all four areas 
of assessment under Accounting, Policies and Estimates were rated as ‘green’.

3.8 The Audit Opinion issued on 30 September 2016 stated that the financial 
statements gave a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at 31 
March 2016, of its expenditure and income for the year and that they had been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 and applicable law.

3.9 Besides commenting on the Financial Statements Grant Thornton also report on 
the Councils’ arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
the use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016. Grant Thornton issued a 
qualified conclusion in respect to the Councils arrangements which reflected the 
Ofsted announcement that was made on 20 September 2016. In all other areas the 
Auditors found that the Council did have in place proper arrangements for Value for 
Money concluding that    ‘’except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis 
for qualified conclusion paragraph (Ofsted), we are satisfied that, in all significant 
respects, the Authority put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money 
through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for the year ended 31 
March 2016’’. The auditors will review progress in implementing the Ofsted 
improvement plan when undertaking the audit and Value for Money conclusions for 
2016/17.

3.10 In October 2016 the Annual Audit Letter was issued detailing the audit findings and 
opinions issued in the previous month which was presented to Audit & Risk 
Management Committee on 22 November 2016.  At the time of writing this report 
Grant Thornton have yet to issue the certification of completion of the audit which 
formally concludes the audit. This is outstanding due to an objection brought by a 
local elector and relates to the Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) category of 
borrowings held by the Council. A number of other Councils have received similar 
objections. The auditor’s response is being co-ordinated nationally by the National 
Audit Office and has yet to be released.  The outcome of this will not affect the 
opinions already issued on the Statement of Accounts and Value For Money.

Page 12



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

3.11 Every Council is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and 
this was included the AGS in the approved Statement of Accounts for 2015/16. 
The AGS sets out how the Council has monitored its governance arrangements 
throughout the year and reviewed how effective they are in supporting planned 
outcomes.

3.12 It covers the period from April 2015 to March 2016 and therefore the significant 
governance issues identified are those which have occurred during this period. The 
AGS was initially prepared prior to the findings from the Ofsted Report which was 
released on 20 September 2016. The final version included reference to issues 
highlighted in the Report having been considered and amended at the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee meeting on 26 September 2016.

3.13 The action plan focusses on two key areas being the action required to address 
organisational and managerial compliance with certain Council processes and 
procedures which is being led by the Corporate Governance Group and the 
response to the Ofsted report on the delivery of services to childrenwhich is being 
led by the Improvement Board.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The amendments to the Statement of Accounts 2015/16 have not changed the 
financial position of the Council including the level of General Fund Balance or 
reserves and provisions at 31 March 2016 which remain as reported to Cabinet on 
18 July 2016.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 It is a legal requirement to publish the Statement of Accounts and Annual 
Governance Statement.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 If Grant Thornton identify concerns in their report and they are not addressed by 
the Council then there are potential risks that the Council will not be able to meet 
its statutory requirements. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1 There has been no specific consultation with regards to this report.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

Page 13



REPORT AUTHOR: Tom Sault
Assistant Director: Finance (S151)
Telephone 0151 666 3407
Email tomsault@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDIX

Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council for the Year ended 31 March 2016 - issued by 
Grant Thornton October 2016.

Note : The Statement of Accounts 2015/16 (over 190 pages) containing the Annual 
Governance Statement can be accessed via the Council web site.

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Audit and Risk Management Committee
    Annual Governance Statement 2015/16 
Audit and Risk Management Committee
    Annual Governance Statement 2015/16
Audit and Risk Management Committee
    Annual Governance Statement 2015/16
    Statement of Accounts 2015/16
Audit and Risk Management Committee
    Statement of Accounts 2015/16
    Annual Audit Letter 2015/16

15 March 2016

13 June 2016

26 September 2016

22 November 2016

Page 14

mailto:tomsault@wirral.gov.uk


© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016

The Annual Audit Letter

for Wirral Council

Year ended 31 March 2016

Robin Baker

Director

T 0161 2146399 

E robin.j.baker@uk.gt.com

Christopher  Whittingham

Senior Manager

T 0161 214 6362

M 07880456174 

E c.w hittingham@uk.gt.com

Bev Waugh

Executive

T 0161 224 0870

E bev.a.w augh@uk.gt.com

October 2016

P
age 15



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 3

2. Audit of the accounts 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 9

4. Working with the Council 12

Appendices

A Reports issued and feesP
age 16



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 3

Executive summary

Purpose of this letter

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at Wirral Council (the Council) for the year ended 
31 March 2016.

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and its external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw 
to the attention of the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the 

National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor 
Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'.

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit and 

Risk Management  Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit 
Findings Report on 26 September 2016.

Our responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 
Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to:
• give an opinion on the Council's financial statements (section two)

• assess the Council's  arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council's financial statements we comply with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO.

Our work

Financial statements opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 30 
September 2016.

Value for money conclusion

In September 2016 the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and 
Skills (Ofsted) issued its report on the inspection of the Council's services for 

children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. The 
overall judgement was that children's services were rated as inadequate. The 

inspection found widespread and serious failures in the services provided to 
children who need help and protection.

The report is evidence of weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements. The Council 

has accepted the findings of the report and has developed an action plan to 
address the identified weaknesses

We were satisfied that the Council had put in place proper arrangements to ensure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 
31 March 2016 except for the matter set out above. We therefore issued a qualified 

‘except for’ value for money conclusion in our audit report on 30 September 2016.

P
age 17



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 4

Use of additional powers and duties

We are required under the Act to give electors the opportunity to raise questions 
about the Council's accounts and we consider and decide upon objections received 

in relation to the accounts. 

On 10 August 2016, we received an objection to the accounts in respect of the 
Council’s Lender Option, Borrower Option borrowing. We understand that similar 

objections have been received by a number of councils nationally. At the time of 
preparing this report our work on this objection remains on-going.

Certificate

We are currently unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts of Wirral Council  due to the outstanding objection.

Whole of government accounts 

We completed work on the Council's consolidation return following guidance 
issued by the NAO and issued an unqualified report on 19 October 2016.

Certification of grants

We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on 
behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on this claim is not 

yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2016. We will report the results 
of this work to the Audit and Risk Management Committee in  our Annual 

Certification Letter.

Looking Ahead 

The Council recognises that it continues to face significant financial challenges 

going forward. The Council has a track record of delivering required savings to 
date although the challenges faced going forward are arguably getting tougher. 

Appropriate arrangements are in place to plan finances effectively alongside 
reliable financial reporting to support the delivery of the Council’s strategic 

priorities. Overall, the Council has responded positively to the challenging financial 
environment during the year and has set out in the MTFS a clear view of what 

needs to be done in 2016/17 and beyond

In July 2015 the Council approved a new Wirral Council Plan: A 2020 Vision. The 

Plan sets out  the key priority areas and desired outcomes for both people and 
place and underpinning the priorities are twenty outcomes to be delivered by 2020. 

The plan has been endorsed by partner organisations who are integral to delivery 
of the Wirral Plan.  The Council acknowledges that, given the challenging financial 

position, difficult decisions remain to be made to ensure both the successful 
delivery of the Wirral Plan and achievement of statutory responsibilities.

The Council will need to finalise and then monitor the implementation of the 
improvement plan in response to the Ofsted findings to secure required 

improvements in children’s services. We will review the progress made by the 
council as part of our on going audit and take into accounts improvements 

achieved when considering our 2016/17 VFM conclusion.

Working with the Council

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
October 2016

P
age 18



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 5

Audit of  the accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's accounts, we use the concept of materiality to 
determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results 

of our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 
statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be £13.7m 
which is 1.9% of the Council‘s gross revenue expenditure. We used this 

benchmark, as in our view, users of the Council’s accounts are most interested in 
how it has spent the income it has raised from taxation and grants during the year. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we 

undertook audit procedures, irrespective of value as these are key elements in the 
accounts that should be correct: 

• Officers’ remuneration, salary bandings and exit packages
• Members allowances

• Auditor remuneration
• Related Party transactions

The scope of our audit
Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

This includes assessing whether: 

• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; 

• significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view.

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 

they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 
on which we give our opinion. We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK 

and Ireland) and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. We believe the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 
business and is risk based. We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work 

we performed in response to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 19



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 6

Audit of  the accounts 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be 

misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that 

there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to 

revenue recognition

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at  Wirral Council  w e 

have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition could be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical framew orks of local authorities, including Wirral Council, mean that all forms of fraud 

are seen as unacceptable.

We did not identify any issues to report

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all entities.

As part of our audit w ork w e:

 review ed entity controls in relation to journal transactions

 tested journal entries

 review ed accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by management

 review ed unusual signif icant transactions

We did not identify any issues to report

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.

P
age 20



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 7

Audit of  the accounts

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The Council revalues its assets on a rolling basis over a f ive 

year period. The Code requires that the Council ensures that  

the carrying value at the balance sheet date is not materially 

different from current value.  

The CIPFA Code of Practice has implemented IFRS 13 for the 

2015/16 financial statements. The Council is required to include 

surplus assets w ithin property, plant and equipment in its 

f inancial statements at fair value, as defined by IFRS13. The 

basis on w hich fair value is defined for investment property is 

also different to that used in previous years.

These issues  represent  signif icant estimates  and change in 

the estimation basis  of these balances by management in the 

f inancial statements.

There are also extensive disclosure requirements under IFRS 13 

w hich the Council needs to comply w ith.

As part of our audit w ork w e:

 review ed  management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of estimates.

 review ed the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used.

 review ed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their w ork

 discussions w ith valuer about the basis on w hich the valuation is carried out and challenge of the key 

assumptions.

 review ed and challenged  the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent w ith our 

understanding.

 tested  revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the Council's asset register

 evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how  

management has satisfied themselves that these are not materially different to current value.

 review ed  the disclosures made by the Council in its f inancial statements to ensure they are in accordance 

w ith the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and IFRS 13

We did not identify any issues to report. We  confirmed that the Council has a 5 year rolling programme 

for valuing its land and buildings assets that complies with the CIPFA Code of Practice. For assets not 

re-valued in year, Council officers undertake an annual assessment of those assets to satisfy themselves 

that the carrying value is not materially different to the fair value at the 31st March 2016.

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as reflected in its 

balance sheet represent signif icant estimates in the f inancial 

statements.

As part of our audit w ork w e : 

 identif ied the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability is not materially 

misstated. 

 assessed w hether the controls w ere implemented as expected and w hether they are suff icient to mitigate the 

risk of material misstatement.

 review ed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary w ho carried out your pension fund 

valuation. We gained an understanding of the basis on w hich the valuation is carried out.

 undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made. 

 review ed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the f inancial 

statements w ith the actuarial report from your actuary.

We did not identify any issues to report.

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.

P
age 21



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 8

Audit of  the accounts
Audit opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on 30 September 2016. The 

Council made the accounts available for audit in line with the agreed timetable and our 
audit did not identify  any adjustments affecting the Council's reported financial 

position.  The draft accounts were again  prepared to a good standard,  however not 
all supporting working papers were available at the start of the audit. We will continue 

to work with Finance staff to identify further improvements to the efficiency of the 
accounts production and audit processes to enable the earlier deadlines for 2017/18 to 

be met, which will require councils to bring forward the approval and audit of financial 
statements to 31 May and 31 July respectively.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts
We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee on 26 September 2016. The key messages arising 
from our audit of the Council's financial statements were:

• no significant issues were identified
• a small number of disclosure adjustments were agreed to ensure compliance with 

accounting practices and to improve the presentation of the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are also required to review the Council's Annual Governance Statement and 
Narrative Report. It published them on its website with the draft accounts in line with 

the national deadlines. Both documents were prepared in line with the relevant 
guidance and were consistent with  the supporting evidence provided by the Council 

and with our knowledge of the Council. 

Other work completed 

Council Finance staff attended a workshop we provided in November 2015 on the 
early closure of local authority accounts. Council Finance staff also attended a 

workshop we provided jointly with CIPFA in February 2016 covering changes to 
accounting standards and the Code of Practice, and emerging issues and future 

developments, to support officers involved in the preparation of the Financial 
Statements.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)

We carried out work on the Council's consolidation schedule in line with 
instructions provided by the NAO . We issued a group assurance certificate 

which did not identify any issues for the group auditor to consider.

Other statutory duties 
We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to 

issue a public interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the 
Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law, and to give 

electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council’s accounts and to 
raise objections received in relation to the accounts.

On 10 August 2016, we received an objection to the accounts under sections 26 

and 27 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The objector has 
requested that we prepare a public interest report and apply to the courts for a 

declaration that Wirral Council’s Lender Option, Borrower Option (LOBO) 
borrowing as referenced in the 2015-2016 accounts is unlawful.  

In keeping with objections received by several authorities the objector raises 
concerns in respect of the 

• rationality of the decision to borrow on LOBO terms; 

• adequacy of the information on which the Council based their decisions to 

enter into LOBO arrangements; 

• scale of borrowing on LOBO terms and associated exposure to interest 

rate increases; 

• alleged improper speculation on future interest rate changes; and

• use of advisers with alleged undisclosed financial incentives to promote 
LOBOs.

Our work in respect of the objection is on-going.

P
age 22



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 9

Value for Money conclusion
Background

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice (the 

Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2015 which specified 
the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and identify 
the key risks where we concentrated our work. The key risks we identified and the 

work we performed are set out in table 3 overleaf.

Ofsted Inspection

In September 2016 the Ofsted, issued their report to the Council following an 

Inspection of the Council’s services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers and review of the effectiveness of the Local 

Safeguarding Children Board. The report concluded that the overall arrangements for 
ensuring the effectiveness of Children's Services at the Council and the Local 

Safeguarding Board in the Wirral Council area were judged to be inadequate. Ofsted’s 
conclusion followed on from a three week inspection process, conducted in July 

2016.

Ofsted delivered key judgements on a four point grading scale of ‘outstanding’, 
‘good’,  ‘requires improvement’ and ‘inadequate’ with each finding from the 

inspection at the Council set out in Table 2. 

Area of assessment Ofsted Assessment

1. Children who need help and protection Inadequate

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence

Requires improvement

- 2.1 Adoption performance

- 2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers

Requires improvement

Inadequate

1. Leadership, management and governance Inadequate

Table 2 -

P
age 23



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 10

Value for Money conclusion

.

The report highlighted a number of issues including:
 there were widespread and serious failures in services provided to children who 

need help and protection
 despite an awareness of failings there was a failure to recruit and retain a 

permanent head of service
 there were too many changes of social worker to allow appropriate relationships 

to develop
 plans to restructure services to respond better to children’s needs were delayed 

for a year due to competing priorities
 case recording is poor and it was not always possible to determine the basis of 

decisions
 accuracy of performance data is sometimes compromised by absent or faulty 

records
 the governance arrangements of the Wirral Safeguarding Children Board did not 

ensure that it was independent of influence, as required by statutory guidance

The Council has fully accepted the findings of the inspection and has taken immediate 

action following receipt of the report from Ofsted  on 20 September 2016 to formulate 
an action plan in response to the findings with detailed actions set out that include:

• Immediate £2m investment to recruit additional social workers and improve 
management arrangement

• Established a cross party Improvement Board with discussion being held with the 
Local Government Association to ensure a suitably qualified Chair is appointed.

We note that the Council is taking Ofsted's report very seriously, and we will monitor 
the Council's progress in delivering required improvements as part of our 2016/17 

audit. 

Overall VfM conclusion

We are satisfied that, in all significant respects, except for the matter we 

identified above, the Council had proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 

March 2016.

P
age 24



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 11

Value for Money 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions

Delivery of the 

required 

savings and the 

establishment 

of revised 

financial 

governance 

arrangements 

We review ed 

• the Council's 

arrangements 

for identifying 

and agreeing 

savings plans 

alongside the 

communication 

of key f indings to 

Cabinet and 

Council

• the f inancial 

governance 

arrangements 

established by 

the Council to 

consider how  the 

Council is 

managing and 

monitoring these 

key f inancial 

risks

The Council has delivered required f inancial savings to date and now  has a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) in place that covers 

a 5 year period to 2020/21. This is consistent w ith the delivery period and scope of the Corporate Plan Wirral 2020. Betw een 2011/12 and 

2014/15 the Council achieved savings of some £134m and the 2015/16 budget set out required savings of £38m. The budget for 

2016/17 set out savings of some £26.8m including a clear recognition of the diff iculties faced by the Council in to deliver the 2015/16 

savings requirement. The Council identif ied that almost £18 million of the projected 2016/17 budget gap of £24 million could be met 

through generating more income and making changes in how  the Council operates. 

Detailed revenue and capital budget monitoring reports are provided to Members w ith the revenue reports clearly and succinctly setting 

out the budget pressures faced by directorates. The Council recognise that the delivery of agreed savings is critical to it’s f inancial health 

and  progress is tracked at both a Council w ide and Directorate level. Reports to Members set out progress achieved against the annual 

budget implementation plan incorporating a RAG rating.

The Council reported a £1.3m underspend against the revised revenue budget for 2015/16. How ever the original 2015/16 revenue budget 

w as revised during the year to increase the planned use of balances and reserves. The Budget for 2015/16  acknow ledged that the 

savings programme w as "ambitious". At the end of Quarter 1 it w as recognised that £28 million of savings w ould be achieved w ith a 

potential shortfall of £9.6 million. Cabinet recommended to Council that the shortfall in savings be re-profiled to 2016/17 and the shortfall 

w as met from Reserves (£5.4 million) and from Balances (£4.2m) in 2015/16.  The 2016/17 revenue budget monitoring report for quarter 

1  sets out a forecast overspend of some £1.1m. This revenue budget included a budget contingency of £12m to mitigate the f inancial 

risks associated w ith demand pressures and the delivery of previously agreed savings. Continuing budgetary pressures relating to Adult 

Social services, Children's services and Transformation and Resources have led to £11.1m of that contingency being allocated

Savings plans are in place and progress is monitored through a combination of arrangements established ahead of 2015/16 alongside 

the development of a Transformation Programme that reports to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. Our review  confirmed that  propos ed 

savings w ere subject to rigorous challenge process. Finance staff provided support throughout this exercise to co-ordinate the process 

and ensure consistent standards w ere  applied across the Council. Results from Scrutiny committee f indings w ere fed into Cabinet’s 

considerations and informed its f inal budget recommendations to Council in March 2016. 

Members and management team have maintained a focus on f inancial requirements and take a clear lead on the achievement of 

required savings. Financial reporting has a high profile especially through the revenue monitor and savings tracker reports that are 

provided to Members. The responsibility for managing risk is through the Audit and Risk Management Committee. Corporate risk register 

includes f inancial resilience and other related f inancial issues. During the year internal audit completed a review  of risk management 

arrangements and identif ied that they w ere developing w ell.

We concluded that the Council has proper arrangements to plan finances effectively and provide reliable financial reporting t o 

support the delivery of its strategic priorities. Overall , the Council has responded appropriately to the challenging financial

environment during the year and has set out in the MTFS a clear view of what needs to be done in 2016/17 and beyond.

Table 2: Value for money risks

P
age 25



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 12

Working with the Council in 2016/17
We will continue to work closely with you during 2016/17 with a particular 
focus on important accounting developments, with timely feedback on any 

emerging issues. 

Highways Network Asset 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the Code) requires 
authorities to account for Highways Network Asset (HNA) at depreciated 

replacement cost (DRC) from 1 April 2016. The Code sets out the key 
principles and requires compliance with the requirements of the Code of 

Practice on the Highways Network Asset (the HNA Code), which defines 
the assets or components that will comprise the HNA. This includes roads, 

footways, structures such as bridges and street furniture. These assets should 
always have been recognised within Infrastructure Assets. 

This is expected to have a significant impact on the Council's 2016/17 

accounts, both in values and levels of disclosure, and may require 
considerable work to establish the opening inventory and condition of the 

HNA as at 1 April 2016. Councils may need to develop new accounting 
records to support the change in classification and valuation of the HNA.

The nature of these changes means that Finance officers will need to work 
closely with colleagues in the highways department and potentially also to 

engage other specialists to support this work. 

We have met with the Council to consider the  accounting, financial 
reporting and audit assurance implications arising from these changes. We 

have shared Client Briefings with Officers.  This significant accounting 
development is likely to be a significant risk for our 2016/17 and we will 

continue to meet with Officers and issue further briefings during the coming 
year to update the Council on key developments and emerging issues.

The audit risks associated with new developments and the work we plan to 
carry out to address them will be reflected in our 2016/17 audit plan.

We will also continue to work with you and support you over the next financial 
year through our focus on: 

• An efficient audit – continuing to deliver an efficient audit

• Improved financial processes – we will focus our work on the actions and 
measures you put in place to achieve the required savings.

• Understanding your operational health – we will continue to focus our 
value for money conclusion work on the on going financial challenges that the 

Council faces and  monitoring the  plans that the Council has in place to 
deliver the required savings.

• Audit Updates – we will continue to provide regular Audit Committee 
updates covering best practice and emerging issues in the sector

P
age 26



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016 13

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2014/15 fees 

£

Statutory audit of Council 159,863 159,863* 213,150

Housing Benefit Grant Certif ication 24,920 24,920 31,800

Total fees (excluding VAT) 184,783 184,783 244,950

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services.

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Audit related services:

• Certif ication of Teachers Pension Return

• Report on Skills Funding Agency Sub contracting 

arrangements

4,200

3,950

Non-audit services nil

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan March 2016

Audit Findings Report September 2016

Annual Audit Letter October 2016

* - We will confirm the final fee once our consideration of the objection is 
complete.

P
age 27



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Wirral Council  | October 2016

P
age 28



1

 
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES 

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

REVENUE MONITORING 2016/17

QUARTER 2 (TO SEPTEMBER 2016)

Councillor Phil Davies (Leader of the Council) said:

‘Ongoing national austerity policies continue to place huge pressure on local 
government, particularly in relation to funding social care for adults and 
children.

Providing these services – at the right quality – is absolutely vital to support 
our most vulnerable residents. Wirral has taken positive and proactive action 
to ensure our budget is sustainable and we are able to manage this hugely 
increased demand. 

We will continue to work hard to ensure our resources are well-managed, 
used to deliver best value for Wirral residents, and enables us to deliver our 
20 Pledges.’

REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the projected revenue position for 2016/17 as at the end 
of quarter 2 (30 September 2016). 

The latest forecast is an underspend of £0.2 million for 2016/17 being an 
improvement of £1.3 million on the quarter 1 forecast (£1.1 million overspent).

The overspend in the Families and Wellbeing Directorate increased during 
the second quarter. The Treasury Management report on the agenda 
recommends to Council the adoption of the annuity method for calculating 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) in respect of capital financing. This 
change will contribute a significant one-off saving in 2016/17 and compensate 
for the overspends elsewhere in the 2016/17 budget.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



2

The report also provides detail of the re-allocation of existing budgets to 
reflect the New Operating Model which was implemented on 1 November 
2016.

The headline position is shown in the graph.

Graph 1:  Wirral Council – 2016/17 General Fund Variance

1 2 3 4

0.000.00

2.002.00

4.004.00

6.00

2015/16 Projected Outturn £m

Quarter

£m

This is a key decision which affects all Wards within the Borough.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The quarter 2 forecast year end underspend of £0.2 million, which 
contains a number of significant variances, be noted. 

2. Officers identify actions and take measures to assist to reduce the impact 
of the projected overspends.

3. The significant in-year contribution offered by the change in Treasury 
Management assumed in the projections be noted.

4. The realignment of budgets to reflect the New Operating Budget are 
referred to Council for approval.

Page 30



3

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Council, having set a Budget at the start of the financial year, needs to 
ensure the delivery of this Budget is achieved.  Consequently there is a 
requirement to regularly monitor progress so corrective action can be taken 
when required which is enhanced with the regular reporting of the financial 
position.

1.2 The New Operating Model was implemented from 1 November 2016 and this 
requires the re-alignment of budgets to accord with the Model. The changes 
are more than ‘normal’ virements so requires the approval of Council.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This is a monitoring report but any options to improve the monitoring and 
budget accuracy will be considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 CHANGES TO THE AGREED BUDGET

3.1.1 The 2016/17 Budget was agreed by Council on 3 March 2016. Any increase 
in the Budget has to be agreed by full Council.  Changes to the Budget since 
it was set are summarised in Table 1. 

Table 1:  2016/17 Original & Revised Net Budget by Directorate
Original 

Net 
Budget

Approved 
Budget 

Changes Prior 
Qtrs

Approved 
Budget 

Changes Qtr 
2

Revised 
Net Budget

£ms £ms £ms £ms
FWB - Adult Social Care 71,311             5,400              298 77,009
FWB – Children & Young 
People,

67,773             5,000              516 73,289

FWB - Further Areas: 
Safeguarding, Schools, 
Leisure, Public Health

9,383               100              126 9,609

Regeneration & 
Environment

83,607  -              193 83,800

Transformation & 
Resources

24,730               500              193 25,423

Corporate Growth, 
Savings & Grant

7,791 -           9,400 -         1,326 -2,935

Net Cost of Services 264,595             1,600                -   266,195

3.1.2 The prior period budget change includes the £1.6 million call on General Fund 
Balances approved by Council on 17 October 2016. The changes also reflect 
the allocation of £11.1 million of the Revenue Budget Contingency agreed by 
Cabinet 18 July 2016. This saw £3.9 million to Adult Social Services, £5 
million to Children’s Services, £0.5 million tor Transformation and Resources 
and £1.7 million in respect of corporate budgets.

Page 31



4

3.1.3 The change within Quarter Two relates to the distribution of the 1% pay 
increase from the corporate budget where it was originally held. This has no 
effect on the bottom line budget. 

3.1.4 There has also been movement from Corporate Growth, Savings & Grant to 
FWB – Children & Young People of £250,000. This is a distribution of the 
Revenue Budget Contingency 2016/17 as per Cabinet 3 October 2016. This 
is to meet increased residential care fees where necessary due to pressure 
resulting from the National Living Wage and Working Time Directive.

3.1.5 A New Operating Model for the Council was agreed by Employment & 
Appointments Committee on 25 July 2016. Since then a number of 
refinements have been made to reflect the outcome of consultation and 
further developments. Work has been undertaken to reallocate the budget in 
the New Operating Model and Table 2 below shows the provisional budget 
re-allocations on a full year basis with additional detail provided in Appendix 
2. The New Operating Model commenced from 1 November 2016 and it is 
possible that further adjustments will be identified.

Table 2: 2016/17 New Operating Model Budgets
New Operating Model Budget 2016-17 Net Expenditure 
Function £000's
Chief Executiv'e Unit 265
Children Services 44,197
Transformation 655
Strategic Hub 125,268
Business Services 23,799
Delivery 74,696
Corporate Growth and Savings 2,685-                             
Total 266,195

3.1.6 The New Operating Model realigns current budgets and is cost neutral. 
However the Model involves revising the existing reporting structure which is 
beyond the scope of ‘normal’ day to day budget virements so the revised 
Budget allocations should be referred to Council for approval

3.1.7 A further development is the allocation of Budgets against the themes to the 
Wirral Plan. As the budgets are refined this will assist with future monitoring 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Table 3: 2016/17 Budget by 2020 Vision Themes 

Theme Net Expenditure £000
People 153,655
Environment 58,678
Business 53,862
Total 266,195

Page 32



5

3.2 PROJECTIONS AND KEY ISSUES

3.2.1 The projected outturn position as at the end of September 2016, key issues 
emerging and Directorate updates are detailed in the following sections. 

Table 4: 2016/17 Projected Budget variations by Directorate £000’s
(Under) 

Overspend
Quarter 2

FWB - Adult Social Care 77,009 80,514 3,505 R 3,505
FWB – Children & Young People 73,039 78,179 5,140 R 1,840
FWB - Further Areas: 
Safeguarding, Schools, Leisure, 
Public Health

9,609 10,345 736 R 436

Regeneration & Environment 83,800 82,780 -1,020 Y -1,020
Transformation & Resources 25,423 17,869 -7,554 Y -1,354
Corporate Growth, Savings & Grant -2,685 -3,685 -1,000 Y -1,000
TOTAL 266,195 266,002 -193 2,407

Change 
from 
prev 

Directorates Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

RAGBY 
Class

The report classifies the forecast under/overspends for the above areas using 
a colour RAGBY rating. The ratings are defined as follows:
 Overspends Red (over +£301k), Underspend Yellow (over -£301k).
 Amber (+£141k to +£300k), Green (range from +£140k to -£140k); Blue 

(-£141k to -£300k).

3.3 DIRECTORATE UPDATES

3.3.1 Families and Wellbeing: Adult Social Care

 The forecast overspend of £3.6 million relates predominantly to Community 
Care, where a number of ongoing pressures exist around demographics and 
demand.  The actions to deal with these at the start of the year are now 
experiencing slippage.

 A number of savings are rated red or amber and are mainly prior year 
savings.  Progress of these is being closely monitored, however delivery of 
these is challenging as they relates to changes in care.  Resources were 
identified within – and have been allocated from – the Revenue Budget 
Contingency to offset the pressures in 2016/17.

 Adult Social Care Budgets across the country are under pressure with local 
authorities, public sector agencies and private providers all highlighting 
concerns to Government.

3.3.2 Families and Wellbeing: Children and Young People

 The forecast overspend of £5.3 million is within care services. It 
encompasses higher staff costs of £3 million and Looked After Children 
commissioning costs of £2.6 million. The latter mainly attributable to the 62 
placements currently in Independent Residential care and the projection 
assumes this number for the rest of the year. 

Page 33



6

 Additional investment is required during the year in respect of the 
implementation of the improvement actions and recommendations arising 
from issues raised in the Ofsted report. This requires a minimum of £2 million 
which is to be funded from the Transformation Fund. 

 The funding of children’s social care is a national issue with over 75% of local 
authorities reporting projected overspends in the current financial year.

3.3.3 Families and Wellbeing: Other

 Within Leisure there is projected £0.5 million overspend as a consequence of 
slippage in delivering a combination of increased income / agreed savings.

 Public Health contract savings have been achieved but are being reinvested 
into other public health activity.

3.3.4 Regeneration and Environment

 Two areas make up the £1 million underspend. In Waste and Environment 
this through additional income from the litter enforcement contract and from 
increased subscriptions to the Garden Waste collection service. In Supported 
Housing contract efficiencies of £500,000 are expected in 2016/17 through 
the reconfiguration and negotiation with providers.

 There are a number of other smaller underspends but they are countered by 
a £200,000 overspend in Cultural Services. This is largely due to pressures at 
the Floral Pavilion as income generation is insufficient to cover costs.

3.3.5 Transformation & Resources

 An underspend of £1.8 million has been achieved in interest payable costs 
from Treasury Management activity including the use of temporary internal 
borrowing from cash flows to replace more expensive external borrowing.

 The Authority must annually make a charge known as the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) to the revenue budget. This relates to the notional 
repayment of capital financing debt. The MRP calculation method agreed 
when setting the 2016/17 budget will allow £3.2 million to be released in 
2016/17 along with an ongoing revenue budget saving of £0.45 million. The 
Treasury Management mid-year report on this agenda further recommends to 
Council the adoption of the annuity asset life method for calculating MRP. 
This will provide an additional £3.7 million one off saving in 2016/17. 

 Asset Management is forecasting a £0.5 million overspend. Resources were 
identified from, the Revenue Budget Contingency but there re still issues 
relating to delayed implementation of savings.

 Legal & Member Services have a projected overspend of £0.5 million from 
external legal fees and Coroner budgets.  

3.3.6 Corporate Growth, Savings & Grant

 A further £1 million of savings has been identified in respect of contractual 
savings.  This has been placed against corporate savings and will be 
transferred and reflected in directorate budgets for future reports.

Page 34



7

3.4 IMPLEMENTATION OF SAVINGS

3.4.1 Savings of £31 million were agreed when setting the 2016/17 Budget. A 
further £10 million of savings relating to previous years savings had not been 
implemented which followed Cabinet in July 2015 agreeing to re-profile £9.6 
million of the 2015/16 savings to 2016/17, whilst a further £0.6 million was 
unachieved by March 2016. An analysis of the position of the £41 million of 
savings has been undertaken and is summarised below.

Table 5: Budget Implementation Plan 2016/17 (£000’s)

RAG
Total identified 
Shortfall  from 

2015/16 and prior

Pre-
Agreed 
16/17

Agreed 
in 

2016/17
Total

Red 5,400 460 3,205 9,065
Amber 1,492 1,300 1,376 4,168
Green 3,300 990 -913 3,377

Blue                             -   370 24,755 25,125
TOTAL 10,192 3,120 28,423 41,735

3.4.2 The savings tracker contains an assessment of the 2016/17 savings. 

 Blue: Represents £25.1 million of savings (60%) of total) which have 
already been realised.

 Green: Savings on track to deliver 
 Amber: Some concerns regarding delivery and will require closer 

scrutiny and monitoring and includes savings within Adults, Children 
and Asset Management. 

 Red: Concerns although largely covered by Revenue Budget 
Contingency as allocated in quarter 1 comprised of Children’s (£5 
million), Adults (£3.9 million), Transformation (£0.5 million) and 
Corporate (£1.7 million).

3.5 INCOME AND DEBT

3.5.1 Revenue and Income falls into four broad areas for reporting purposes. 
Amounts raised and collected in the year are shown in Table 6.

Table 6:  Amount to be Collected in 2016/17
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

Collectable Collected Collected
£000 £000 %

Council Tax 146,467 80,031 54.6
Business Rates 76,218 41,812 54.9
Fees and charges:  Adults & 
Children

32,580 17,233 52.9

Fees and charges:  all other 
services

36,829 24,783 67.3

Page 35



8

COUNCIL TAX

3.5.2 Compared with September 2015 the collection performance is higher in both 
percentage terms and cash received. An additional £3.7 million has been 
collected. The table compares the amount collected  in the period 1 April 
2016 to 30 September 2016 with the same period in 2015/16:

Table 7 : Council Tax Comparatives
Actual Actual

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Cash to Collect £146,467 £140,145
Cash Collected £80,031 £76,373
% Collected 54.6% 54.5%

3.5.3 The major change this year relates to a 4% increase in the amount 
collectable of which 2% is for Adult Social Care. Overall Council Tax levels 
are £6.3 million more than this time last year. There has been a reduction in 
numbers eligible for Council Tax Support over the last 12 months. 

BUSINESS RATES

3.5.4 Cash received to 30 September 2016 is up by £1 million on the equivalent 
period a year ago. The percentage collected to date is lower due to the timing 
of in year receipts from some large properties with £1 million received early in 
October. Business Rate levels collectable are £5 million higher than last year 
reflecting an increased number of properties on the valuation list.

3.5.5 The table compares the amount collected for the period 1 April 2016 to 30 
September 2016 with the amount collected for the same period in 2015/16:

Table 8: National Non-Domestic Rates Comparatives
Actual Actual

2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Cash to Collect £76,218 £71,196
Cash Collected £41,812 £40,920
% Collected 54.9% 57.5%

3.5.6 Wirral is part of the Liverpool City Region Business Rates Retention pilot 
scheme. It is expected that next year we will retain 100% of all Business 
Rates collected; the figure is currently 49%. Any increase in income will 
however be offset by reduction/cancelling of Government Grants and the 
transfer to Wirral of additional responsibilities. The Government have stated 
that pilot authorities will not be financially disadvantaged by being part of the 
pilot. Wirral currently receives more in the centrally allocated NNDR ‘top-up’ 
grant than its proportion of collectable NNDR.

Page 36



9

3.5.7 New Rateable Values (RV) will be effective nationally from 1 April 2017 and 
businesses have been able to check their new proposed rateable values 
since 1 October 2016. The new RVs combined with the reduced multiplier 
used to determine bills seem unlikely at this stage to make a significant 
change to the Council’s financial position. 

DEBTORS

3.5.8 At the end of September 2016 the arrears stood at £23.3 million. The table 
provides an analysis across service areas and the amount of debt at each 
recovery stage:

Table 9: Accounts Receivable Outstanding Arrears Analysis
Directorate 
Description

Less than 
10 days

1st 
reminder

2nd 
reminder

3rd 
reminder

Total at 
30.09.16

£ £ £ £ £
Chief 
Executive

86,332 10,449 13,117 970,727 1,080,625

Neighbourhood 29,031 0 1,122 13,357 43,510
Transformation 
& Resources

3,376,824 718,596 476,479 1,283,078 5,854,977

Families & 
Wellbeing

3,244,174 453,900 284,359 10,975,497 14,957,930

Regeneration 
& Environment

751,598 123,358 77,907 492,067 1,444,930

Policy & 
Performance

0 0 0 100,000 100,000

Totals 7,487,959 1,306,303 852,984 13,834,726 23,481,972

3.5.9 The figures are for invoices in respect of the period up to the end of 
September 2016. Payments as well as amendments such as write-offs and 
debt cancellations continue to be made after this date on all these accounts.  
There is a further deduction of £138,189 to be made for unallocated 
payments at month end leaving a balance of £23,343,783 compared to 
£24,710.123 last year.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The adoption of the Asset Life method to calculate the Minimum Revenue 
Provision has been calculated has allowed a minimum of £2.5 million of 
backdated savings in 2016/17.  A further £3.7 million can be achieved if 
Council agrees to the use of the annuity rather than equal instalment Asset 
Life method. Both of these revised calculation methods result in the total 
repayment of the Capital Financing debt, but over a longer period of time. The 
Treasury Management Mid-Year report on this agenda reports recommends 
to Council the adoption of the annuity life method.

Page 37



10

4.2 The estimated General Fund Balance position is calculated in the table below

Table 10: Summary of the Projected General Fund Balances
Details £m
Balance 31 March 2016 when setting the Budget 2016/17 +11.5
Add; Additional Returned New Homes Bonus Grant 0.2
Add: Increase following closure of 2015/16 accounts 1.3
Less: Allocation for care fees -1.5
Less: Reversal of passport for life budget option -0.1
Projected Balance Excluding Current Year Projection 11.4
Less: Potential underspend at September 2016 0.2
Projected Balance 31 March 2017   11.6

4.3 The projected General Fund balance of £11.6 million at 31 March 2016 is in 
line with the minimum level required as agreed as part of the Budget 2016/17.

4.4 As part of the Budget 2017/18 preparation there is to be a review of the 
Earmarked Reserves. The Reserves excluding School balances totalled 
£58.8 million at 1 April 2016. These include reserves relating to the cost of 
transformation, mitigation of future financial risks and specific project support. 

4.5 There are no IT, staffing or asset implications arising directly out of this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The entire report concerns the duty of the Council to avoid a budget shortfall.  
The Chief Finance Officer has a personal duty under the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 Section 114A to make a report to the executive if it appears 
to them that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it 
proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources  
available to it to meet that expenditure.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS; ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by:

 Senior Leadership Team / Directorate Teams reviewing the financial 
position.

 Tracking system of savings options to monitor progress.
 Use of temporary additional support to assist with revenues collection.
 Use of earmarked reserves and General Fund Balance savings risk 

contingency

Page 38



11

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report is essentially a monitoring report which reports on financial 
performance.

REPORT AUTHOR: Peter Molyneux
Senior Manager
Telephone (0151) 666 3389
Email petemolyneux@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 General Fund Revenue Budget 2016/17
Appendix 2 New Operating Model Budgets 2016/17

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Budget Council
Cabinet – Revenue Monitoring 2016/17 Quarter 1

3 March 2016
18 July 2016

Page 39



12

APPENDIX 1

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2016/17

ORIGINAL BUDGET AGREED BY COUNCIL ON 3 MARCH 2015

Department Original
Agreed
Budget

Agreed
Changes
Quarter 1

Proposed
Changes
Quarter 2

Revised
Agreed
Budget

Expenditure £000 £000 £000 £000
FWB - Adult Social Care 71,311 5,400 298 77,009
FWB – Children & Young People 67,773 5000 516 73,289
FWB - Further Areas: Safeguarding, 
Schools, Leisure, Public Health

9,383 100 126 9,609

Regeneration & Environment 83,607 - 193 83,800
Transformation & Resources 24,730 500 193 25,423
Net Cost of Services 256,804 11,000 1,326 269,130
Corporate Savings/Growth -253 1,700 1,326 121
Education Services Grant -3,156 - - -3,156
Revenue Budget Contingency 11,200 -11,100 - 100
Budget Requirement 264,595 1,600 0 266,195

Income
Revenue Support Grant 50,710 - - 50,710
Grant – Business Rates Top Up 41,630 - - 41,630
New Homes Bonus 3,178 - - 3,178
Business Rates Baseline 34,828 - - 34,828
Business Rates Section 31 Grants 2,193 - - 2,193
Council Tax Requirement 120,274 - - 120,274
Contribution from Balances & Reserves 11,782 1,600 - 13,382
Total Income 264,595 1,600 - 266,195

Statement of Balances
As at 1 April 2016 11,500 - 11,500
Contributions to Balances (1) - 1,500 - 1,500
Contributions from Balances (2) - -1600 - -1,600
Potential underspend at Quarter 2 2016 - - 200 200
Forecast Balances 31 March 2017 11,500 -100 200 11,600

Notes:
1. Contribution to Balances relate to closure of accounts 2015/16 (£1.3 million) 

and returned New Homes Bonus grant (£0.2 million) 
2. Contributions from Balances relate to Care Fees contribution (£1.5 million) 

and reversal of passport for life saving (£0.1 million) 

Page 40



13

APPENDIX 2

GENERAL FUND BUDGET 2016/17
NEW OPERATING MODEL

Budget 2016-17

Net 
Expenditur

e Total

Function Business Unit £000
Chief Executive Chief Executive's Unit 265

Children's Care 18,039
Children's Care - Commissioned 19,084
Children's Services 7,074

Chief Executive Total 44,462
Transformation Transformation 655
Transformation Total 655
Strategic Hub Communication 957

Environment 40,136
Growth 922
Health & Care 65,489
Health & Wellbeing 721
Health & Wellbeing - Public Health 0
Intelligence 490
Schools 16,012
Strategy 359
Director for Strategic Hub 182

Strategic Hub Total 125,268
Business Services Assets 2,991

Commissioning Support 13,131
Digital 679
Finance 1,636
HR & OD 450
Law & Governance 4,783
Director for Business Unit 129

Business Services Total 23,799
Delivery Adult & Disability 20,610

Community Services 26,865
Customer Services 5,007
Environmental services 22,212
Merseyside Pension Fund 0
Director for Delivery 2

Delivery Total 74,696
Corporate Growth and Savings Corporate Growth and Savings -2,685
Corporate Growth and Savings Total -2,685
Grand Total 266,195

Notes:
1. Above is recast on full year basis. Implementation date is 1 November 2016.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

CAPITAL MONITORING 2016/17

QUARTER 2 (TO SEPTEMBER 2016)

Councillor Phil Davies (Leader of the Council) said:

‘The Capital Programme demonstrates the major investment we are making in 
Wirral: improving schools, housing, roads and public buildings.  We are also making 
use of new opportunities to utilise capital funding to deliver transformational change 
to public services, ensuring we can deliver on our 20 Pledges even with vastly 
reduced financial resources.’

REPORT SUMMARY
This report provides Cabinet with an update on progress towards delivering the 
Capital Programme 2016/17 at the end of September 2016. 

The report recommends Cabinet approves the 2016/17 Capital Programme of £38.1 
million which takes into account re-profiling identified during both the 2015/16 final 
accounts process, latest reviews of the current year and additional grant funding 
notified to the Council. The expenditure to date is £10.6 million.

This matter is a key decision which affects all Wards within the Borough.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Note the spend to date at Month 6 of £10.6 million, with 50% of the financial 
year having elapsed;

2. Agree and refer to Council the revised Capital Programme of £38.1 million 
(Table 1) which also includes a number of recommended virements as 
outlined in paragraph 3.5 of the report. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the Capital Programme enables decisions 
to be taken more efficiently and effectively, which may produce revenue 
benefits and will improve the financial control of the Programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options have been considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

OVERALL POSITION AT END OF SEPTEMBER 2016

3.1 The actual spend against the Capital Programme is summarised in Table 1.

Chart 1: Capital Programme spend below line of best fit

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

P0 P3 P6 P9 P12

£m

Months

Capital Programme 2016/17

Revised Programme Actual spend

ORIGINAL AND PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2016/17

3.2 The Programme for 2016/17 is subject to change. Presently it reflects;

£000
Programme agreed by Cabinet on 22 February 2016 48,107
Year end re-profiling 6,364
Additional grant funding 1,750
Variations identified March 2016 2,750
Variations identified since June 2016 (see Table 2) -20,885
Revised 2016/17 Programme 38,086

Page 44



Table 1: Capital Programme 2016/17 at 30 September 2016

Capital 
Strategy

Revisions 
Since 

Budget

Revised 
Capital 

Programme

Actual 
Spend 

Sept 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Transformation Resources 7,863 1,237 9,100 2,634
Families – Children 9,185 -282 8,903 3,133
Families – Adults 10,255 -7,706 2,549 164
Families – Sport & Rec 2,871 -1,111 1,760 570
R&E–  Env & Regulation 10,016 844 10,860 2,881
R&E–  Hsg & Comm Safety 7,317 -2,945 4,372 1,106
R& E – Regeneration 600 -58 542 90
Total expenditure 48,107 -10,021 38,086 10,578

3.3 PROGRESS TO DATE

3.3.1 Transformation and Resources

The investment in IT is focussed on migrating all servers and applications to 
the core domain and, where possible, upgrading applications to the latest 
version; upgrading all Windows Server operating systems to a supported 
operating system and reducing the server footprint by virtualising all servers 
where possible.

Works to increase building occupancy have mainly focused on Wallasey 
Town Hall, Moreton Municipal, and Solar Campus. These schemes enable the 
existing buildings to operate more efficiently with a higher level of occupancy.

Works continue with improvements to Parks Depots with the service road to 
Warren Farm Depot having been re-surfaced, the vehicle entrance widened, 
and new security cameras installed. The main site accommodation is being 
refurbished with a new heating system and new double glazed windows. 
Improvements to staff welfare areas, kitchen and toilets are being undertaken.

3.3.2 Families and Wellbeing - Children

A new classroom has been constructed at Elleray Park School to meet 
capacity needs. This includes improved external accessibility and play areas.

Two classrooms were extended at Mersey Park School to provide additional 
space and improved IT. A resource/group room was constructed to provide 
additional space for small group work and break out space.

Page 45



The development at Stanley School includes two additional classrooms with 
the latest and most up to date learning facilities, providing excellent teaching 
environments which are comfortable and provide safe spaces, the classrooms 
will have assisted lifting and hygiene facilities and the latest IT equipment.

The Hive, Wirral’s soon to be opened Youth Zone, is progressing according to 
schedule with the completion date expected mid-February 2017.

Works to schools, funded from Government grant, as part of the 
Modernisation and Basic Needs programmes continue to be managed in 
conjunction with the schools which has seen significant sums re-profiled in 
2017/18.

3.3.3 Families and Wellbeing - Adults

The programme is primarily focussed on the provision of extra care / 
specialised housing which remains the subject of on-going consultation and 
negotiation and therefore the funding has been re-profiled.

3.3.4 Families and Wellbeing - Sport and Recreation

Re-roofing of Bidston Tennis Centre is now complete.

Work has commenced to provide integrated accommodation at West Kirby 
Marine Lake, which will be mainly incurred in 2017/18, and also the 
redevelopment of the Oval Sports Centre.

3.3.5 Regeneration and Environment – Environment and Regulation

The majority of expenditure has been incurred on various highway 
maintenance schemes such as hot road asphalting where 20 schemes are 
either complete or underway with spend totalling £0.75 million, Micro 
asphalting  with 7 schemes complete or underway totalling £0.67 million and 
Surface dressing with 12 schemes complete or underway totalling £0.43 
million.

The scheme to replace the docks bridges, which attracts significant 
Government grant funding over the next two years, has commenced.

The west Kirby Flood alleviation works also involves grant funding and a re-
profiled business case has been submitted to the environment Agency. 
Approval is awaited so the funding has been re-profiled to 2017/18.

3.3.6 Regeneration and Environment – Housing

£0.7 million of grant aid has been provided for the provision of essential aids 
and adaptations giving disabled people better freedom of movement in and 
around their homes.

Page 46



The home improvement scheme has provided £0.3 million of financial 
assistance and intervention to remedy poor housing conditions in the private 
sector.

3.4 A review of the Programme has been undertaken and amended to reflect 
updated project delivery forecasts and changes in available funding. The 
variances which have arisen since June are shown in Table 2. A number of 
funding virements have also been considered by the officers’ Assets and 
Capital Group (ACG) and these are discussed in paragraph 3.5.

Table 2: Cash variations to the 2016/17 Programme

Scheme £000
Transformation & Resources
Energy efficiency initiatives – scheme competed
Treasury Building – re-profiled
Industrial Estates – the portfolio requires a further review 
before committing funds so removed from Programme

Families & Wellbeing – Children
School Place Planning – re-profiled
Condition/Modernisation – re-profiled
Basic Needs – re-profiled
Family support schemes – re-profiled
Youth Capital – reduced requirement
Elleray Park – funded from modernisation programme

Families & Wellbeing – Adults
Community Intermediate Care – re-profiled. Focus now on 
improving access to GPs. £0.4m required  2017/18 (net 
scheme reduction of £0.5m)
Extra Care Housing – re-profiled
Learning Disabilities extra care housing – re-profiled
Integrated Social Care – scheme to be re-evaluated
Pensby Wood Centre – re-profiled

Families & Wellbeing – Sport and Recreation
Oval – additional resources for fitness equipment for gym
West Kirby Marine Lake Accommodation –re-profiled
West Kirby/Guinea Gap – retention and professional fees 
remain but scheme completed under budget
Oval - re-profiled retentions
Leasowe Leisure 3G Pitches – re-profiled

-218
-150
-150

-1,717
-914

-1,010
-137
-149

-72

-900

-1,400
-3,000
-2,000

-900

230
-875
-160

-129
-820

Page 47



Scheme £000
Reg & Env – Environment
Bridges – additional grant funding
West Kirby Flood Alleviation – re-profiled (business case still 
awaiting final approval from the Environment Agency)
Maintenance to unclassified/residential streets is subsumed 
into maintenance programme – reduced requirement

Reg & Env – Housing
Clearance - re-profiled
Home improvements - re-profiled
Aids, Adaptations and Disabled Facility Grants - re-profiled
Restore Empty Homes - re-profiled
New House Building Programme - re-profiled

Reg & Env – Regeneration
Business Investment Grants – re-profiled

Minor variations

Total Variations

570
-1,850

-500

-881
-481

-1,696
-374
-297

-737

-168

-20,885

3.5 The ACG has considered and recommends virements. The Transport Depot 
improvements are now almost complete and the plan to relocate Ebeneezer 
Street to Cleveland Street is no longer being considered due to capacity and 
operational issues. The new build element is not required at Cleveland Street 
and is likely to be completed at Warren Farm Depot. This would release 
£2.378 million of Council resources. As there are gaps within the Programme 
it is recommended this funding be used as follows.

Table 3 : Virement in the 2016/17 Programme

Scheme £000
Transport Depot
Change in the scheme (see above)
Building refurbishment to increase occupancy
Continued drive to rationalise office portfolio
Pensby Wood Centre
Survey highlighted issues over pipework and new windows
West Kirby Marine Lake – integrated accommodation
Full detailed design to maximise potential income. There are 
additional structural issues given the location.
Demolition of former Rock Ferry School
Increased costs with additional sum required.
Fund for land assembly
Assist in creating economic growth by releasing surplus land 
and property for development.

-2,378

+.500

+600

+300

+85

+893

Page 48



3.6 Schemes remain subject to ongoing review to ensure that a deliverable 
Programme is in place, that they are compatible with the 2020 Vision and to 
try and identify any savings.

FINANCING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

3.7 Table 4 summarises the financing sources for the Capital Strategy (original 
programme) and Revised Programme.

Table 4: Revised Capital Programme Financing

Capital Programme Financing Capital 
Strategy

Revised 
Programme

£000 £000
Unsupported Borrowing 16,852 11,838
Capital Receipts 13,339 7,263
Revenue and Reserves 1,004 117
Grants 16,912 18,868
Total Financing 48,107 38,086

3.8 Any re-profiling which reduces borrowing delivers one-off revenue savings. A 
permanent saving only occurs if schemes cease, otherwise the full budget will 
be required in 2017/18 when the re-profiled expenditure is incurred.

PROJECTED LONGER TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME

3.9 Funding for the forecast 2016/17 to 2018/19 Programme reflects the 2016/19 
Capital Programme agreed by Cabinet on 22 February 2016 with subsequent 
amendments for reprofiling and revised grant notifications. 

Table 5: Capital Programme Financing 2016/17 to 2018/19

Capital Programme 
Financing

2016/17
Revised

Programme

2017/18
Revised

Programme

2018/19
Revised

Programme

Total
Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000
Unsupported 
Borrowing

11,838 14,245 1,720 27,803

Capital Receipts 7,263 675 0 7,938
Revenue / Reserves 117 399 50 566
Grants 18,868 20,104 0 38,972
Total Financing 38,086 35,423 1,770 75,279

Page 49



SUPPORTED AND UNSUPPORTED BORROWING AND THE REVENUE 
CONSEQUENCES OF UNSUPPORTED BORROWING

3.10 Based on the current cost, £1 million of Prudential Borrowing would result in 
additional revenue financing costs of approximately £75,000 per annum in the 
following year.  As part of the Capital Strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19 the Council 
has included an element of prudential borrowing. Presently there is £27.8 
million new Unsupported Borrowing included over the three years, which will 
result in approximately £2.1 million of additional revenue costs.

Table 6: Unsupported Borrowing Forecasts & Revenue Costs

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
£000 £000 £000 £000

New Unsupported Borrowing
Cumulative

11,838
11,838

14,245
26,083

1,720
27,803

0
27,803

Annual Revenue repayment costs 
Cumulative 240 1,125 1,986 2,085

CAPITAL RECEIPTS

3.11 The Capital Programme is reliant on the Council generating capital receipts to 
finance future schemes. Available capital receipts at 1 April 2016 were £8.047 
million. The table assumes the proposed spend, set out at Table 1 is agreed. 
Receipts and funding assumptions are based upon the latest estimates.

Table 7: Projected Capital Receipts position

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
£000 £000 £000

Capital Receipts Reserve 8,047 784 109
In - Receipts Assumption 2,750 6,250 3,900
Out - Funding (Capital) -7,263 -675 0
Out - Funding (Transformation) -2,750 -6,250 -3,900
Closing Balance 784 109 109

3.12 Additional flexibilities regarding the use of receipts were confirmed following 
the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement 2015. Receipts generated between 1 April 
2016 and 31 March 2019, excluding Right-To-Buy receipts, can be used to 
fund Transformation provided the Council has agreed a Transformation 
Programme setting out the projects, costs and deliverable benefits / savings.

3.13 In respect of the major receipts. For Manor Drive, provided there are no 
planning consent issues, the Council should receive £2.25 million in 2016/17 
with a similar amount in 2017/18. The sale of Acre Lane should become 
clearer in the coming weeks with the first receipt assumed for early 20/17 with 
similar amounts for 2017/18 and 2018/19. No account has been taken as yet 
for any potential receipt in connection with the former Rock Ferry High School.

Page 50



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The revised 2016/17 Capital Programme is £38.1 million with anticipated 
Capital Receipts remaining at the year-end of £0.7 million and £2.75 million 
earmarked to support the Transformation Programme.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possibility of failure to deliver the Capital Programme is mitigated by a 
monthly review by a senior group of officers.

7.2 The generation of capital receipts may be influenced by factors outside the 
authority’s control e.g. ecological issues. Lambert, Smith, Hampton continue 
to provide external support.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 There has been no specific consultation with regards to this report.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Reg Huyton
Principal Accountant
telephone:  0151 666 3415
email:   reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Capital Programme and Funding 2016/17.
Appendix 2 – Capital Receipts 2016/17.

SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting Date
Capital monitoring reports presented to Cabinet
Capital Programme – Council
Capital Programme – Council

Quarterly
22 February 2016

3 March 2016

Page 51

mailto:reghuyton@wirral.gov.uk


Capital Programme and Funding 2016/17 APPENDIX 1

Transformation & Resources

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date
£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Building refurbishment to increase 
occupancy 1,917 427 1,917 - - 1,917
Fund to assist land assembly and resale 893 268 893 - - 893
Cleveland Street. Transport Depot 500 8 500 - - 500
Demolish Bebington Town Hall 378 4 378 - - 378
Demolish former Rock Ferry High School 480 17 480 - - 480
Park depots rationalisation 1,002 396 1,002 - - 1,002
Stanley Special School  / renovation 18 1 18 - - 18
Demolish former Foxfield School 30 6 30 - - 30
CCTV Cameras and other equipment 100 - 100 - - 100
I.T. development 1,423 1,402 1,423 - - 1,423
Transport Museum 261 - 261 - - 261
Flaybrick Cemetery 175 75 175 - - 175
Millennium Centre re-modelling 523 28 523 - - 523
Pensby Wood Centre 900 - - - - 900
Treasury Building 500 2 500 - - 500

9,100 2,634  9,100 - - 9,100

P
age 52



Families and Wellbeing – CYP

Revised 
Programme 

£000 

Spend to 
Date
£000 

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

School Place Planning 1,400 288 706 - 694 1,400
Condition/Modernisation 3,200 1,507 - - 3,200 3,200
Basic Need allocation 1,500 261 - - 1,500 1,500
Funding for 2 year olds 17 - - - 17 17
Universal Free School Meals - 13 - - - -
Somerville Mobile Replacement 101 18 101 - - 101
Private Finance Initiative 85 - - 85 - 85
Family Support Scheme 100 46 100 - - 100
Wirral Youth Zone – the Hive 1,900 600 1,900 - - 1,900
Stanley Special School 617 400 617 - - 617

8,903 3,133 3,424 85 5,394 8,903

Families and Wellbeing – DASS

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date
 £000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Citizen and Provider Portal/Integrated I.T 1,078 85 461 - 617 1,078
Transformation of Day Service 156 79 - - 156 156
Extra Care housing 600 - - - 600 600
Assistive Technology 615 - 230 - 385 615
Community Intermediate Care Services 100 - 100 - - 100

2,549 164 791 - 1,758 2,549

P
age 53



Families and Wellbeing – Sports & 
Recreation

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date
 £000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

West Kirby/Guinea Gap 82 28 82 - - 82
Wirral Tennis Centre - Artificial Turf Pitch &
          perimeter fence repairs 48 12 48 - - 48
West Kirby Marine Lake – Integrated  

accommodation and service delivery 250 184 100 - 150 250
Oval Sports Centre re-development 1,080 76 1,080 - - 1,080
Wirral Tennis Centre re-roofing 300 270 300 - - 300

1,760 570 1,610 - 150 1,760P
age 54



Regeneration and Environment - 
Environment & Regulation

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend to 
Date 
£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Road Safety 97 89 97 - - 97
Active Travel 78 7 78 - - 78
Bridges 862 41 292 - 570 862
Highway Maintenance 3,242 1,953 67 - 3,175 3,242
Pothole Action Fund 206 131 - - 206 206
Transport for Growth 1,923 76 510 - 1,413 1,923
Start Active, Play Active, Stay active 14 23 14 - - 14
Wirral Way - widening / safety improvements 4 2 4 - - 4
Cemetery Extensions and Improvements 273 4 273 - - 273
Coast Protection 242 1 233 9 - 242
East Float access improvements Tower Road 200 1 - - 200 200
Wirral International Business Park connections 195 - - - 195 195
East Float access improvements Duke Street 395 32 - - 395 395
Energy schemes (LED Street Lighting) 32 92 32 - - 32
Street lighting 60 17 - - 60 60
Allotments 121 112 121 - - 121
Parks vehicles replacement 117 - 117 - - 117
West Kirby Flood Alleviation 103 - 100 3 - 103
Gorsefield Avenue flood relief 100 - - 20 80 100
Dock Bridges Replacement 2,596 300 66 - 2,530 2,596

10,860 2,881 2,004 32 8,824 10,860

P
age 55



Regeneration and Environment - Housing & 
Community Safety

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend 
to Date 

£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Aids, Adaptations and Disabled Facility Grants 2,000 692 - - 2,000 2,000
Clearance 560 1 100 - 460 560
Home Improvement 650 263 650 - - 650
New House Building Programme 884 150 884 - - 884
Restore Empty Homes 278 - - - 278 278

4,372 1,106 1,634 - 2,738 4,372

Regeneration and Environment – 
Regeneration

Revised 
Programme 

£000

Spend 
to Date 

£000

Council 
Resources 

£000

Revenue/ 
Reserves 

£000
Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000

Business Investment Grants 238 86 238 - - 238
The Priory 4 4 - - 4 4
Growth Fund 300 - 300 - - 300

542 90 538 - 4 542

Total 37,886 10,578 18,901 117 18,868 37,886

Note : The Programme in Appendix 1 assumes that the changes / virements in Sections 3.4 and 3.5 of the report are agreed.

P
age 56



APPENDIX 2

CAPITAL RECEIPTS RECEIVED DURING 2016/17

Cash Received £000

Ex-HRA Magenta Housing Right to Buy 389
North Star, 294 Laird Street 15
One O’Clock Gun site 10
Hind Street /Thomas Street land 19
Empty Homes (various) 55

Total 488

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

MID-YEAR REPORT 2016/17

Councillor Phil Davies (Leader of the Council) said:

‘The effective management of all of our resources is vital to the success of the 
Council. This includes our proactive approach to Treasury Management which will 
deliver a cash benefit of £8.7 million during 2016/17.

Achieving savings of such significant levels provides huge support to the front-line 
services residents rely on. We are able to achieve these savings from making 
business decisions regarding borrowing and investments to take advantage of 
commercial and funding opportunities alongside the security, liquidity and return on 
any investments.’

REPORT SUMMARY

The Authority’s treasury management activity is underpinned by CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (“the Code”), which requires the production of 
annual Prudential Indicators and a Treasury Management Strategy Statement on 
likely financing and investment activity. The Code also recommends that Members 
are informed of treasury management activities at least twice a year.

This report fulfils the Authority’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 
2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) Investment Guidance.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



Proactive Treasury Management activity resulted in previously identified one-off 
savings in 2016/17 of a minimum of £5 million.

 £2.5 million from a combination of reduced 2016/17 interest payments and 
revised Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge in 2016/17.

 a further £2.5 million being generated in associated backdated adjustments as 
a result of revising the Council’s MRP policy.

This 2016/17 one-off saving will increase to £8.7 million subject to the approval of 
Council in relation to amending the Treasury Management Strategy in calculating the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (as detailed in the report).

 £3.2 million from a combination of reduced 2016/17 interest payments and 
revised Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge in 2016/17.

 £5.5 million being generated in associated backdated adjustments as a result 
of revising the Council’s MRP policy.

For 2017/18 the saving from the change to the MRP policy will increase from the 
previously agreed £0.45 million to £1.25 million as detailed in Appendix 1.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.

The decisions in this report are key decisions.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report for 2016/17 be agreed.

2. That the selection of the annuity method within ‘Option 3 Asset Life’ for 
calculating the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) be endorsed and that this 
amendment to the Treasury Management Strategy be referred to Council for 
approval.

3. That the current estimated saving of £5.0 million from Treasury Management 
activities in 2016/17 be noted.

4. That, subject to Recommendation 2, the Treasury Management savings for 
2016/17 will increase to £8.7 million.

5. That, subject to Recommendation 2, the Treasury Management savings for 
2017/18 will increase to £1.25 million and this be reflected in Budget 2017/18.

Page 60



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 Wirral has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
(“the Code”), which includes regular update reports to Members of treasury 
activity. This report is the mid-year review for 2016/17

1.2 Council delegates policy implementation and monitoring to Cabinet and 
execution and administration of activity to the Section 151 Officer.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report is essentially a monitoring report. The report contains within it 
discussion regarding the different options for calculating the Minimum 
Revenue Provision.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 CIPFA define Treasury Management as: “The management of the local 
authority investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.”

3.2 Cabinet approves the Treasury Management Strategy at the start of each 
financial year. This identifies how it is proposed to finance capital expenditure, 
borrow and invest in the light of capital spending requirements, the interest 
rate forecasts and the expected economic conditions. During the year Cabinet 
receives a mid-year report on treasury management activities and at the end 
of each financial year this Annual Report.

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

3.3 Growth and Inflation

3.3.1 The preliminary estimate of Quarter 2 2016 Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
showed reasonably strong growth as the economy grew at a healthy pace of 
2.2%. Growth forecasts had already been downgraded as 2016 progressed, 
as the uncertainty surrounding the European Union referendum outcome 
dampened business investment. Although there may be some divergent 
views, in general the referendum result, coupled with the subsequent political 
change has heightened the perceived economic risks and prompted a sharp 
decline in household, business and investor sentiment.

Page 61



3.3.2 Whilst the economic growth consequences of leaving the European Union 
remain speculative, there is some expectation that uncertainty over the UK’s 
future trade relations with the EU and the rest of the world will weigh on 
economic activity and business investment, constrain investment intentions 
and tighten credit availability, prompting lower activity levels and potentially a 
rise in unemployment. These effects are expected to stifle economic growth 
through the second half of 2016 and in 2017.

3.3.3 Inflation is expected to pick up due to a rise in import prices, reducing real 
wage growth and real investment returns. The Bank of England forecasts a 
rise in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) to 0.9% by the end of 2016 and 
thereafter a rise closer to the Bank’s 2% target over the coming year, as 
previous rises in commodity prices and the sharp depreciation in sterling 
begin to drive up imported material costs for companies.

3.4 Monetary Policy

3.4.1 This negative sentiment on economic growth prompted the Monetary Policy 
Committee to initiate substantial monetary policy easing at its August meeting 
to mitigate economic risks. This included a cut in Bank Rate to 0.25%, further 
gilt and corporate bond purchases (Quantitative Easing) and cheap funding 
for banks to maintain the supply of credit to the economy.

3.5 Market Reaction

3.5.1 In response to the Bank of England’s policy announcement, money market 
rates and bond yields declined to new record lows, based on the view that 
Bank Rate would remain extremely low for the foreseeable future.

THE COUNCIL TREASURY POSITION

3.6 The table shows how the position has changed since 31 March 2016 with the 
Net debt having reduced from £207 million at March 2016 to £189 million at 
30 September 2016.

Table 1: Summary of Treasury Position

Balance 
31 Mar 16 

(£m)

Maturities 
(£m)

Additions 
(£m)

Balance 
30 Sep 16 

(£m)
Investments 51 (254) 260 57
Borrowings (208) 46 (35) (197)
Other Long-Term Liabilites (50) 1 0 (49)
Net Debt (207) (207) 225 (189)

Page 62



INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

3.7 Both the CIPFA and the CLG’s Investment Guidance require the Authority to 
invest prudently and have regard to the security and liquidity of investments 
before seeking the optimum yield. These investments arise from a number of 
sources including General Fund Balances, Reserves and Provisions, grants 
received in advance of expenditure, money borrowed in advance of capital 
expenditure, Schools’ Balances and daily cashflow / working capital.

3.8 At 30 September 2016 the Council held investments of £57 million. The table 
below shows the level of investment increasing to £65 million at 30 June 2016 
(from £51 million as 31 March 2016) due to the receipts for 2016/17 funding 
being received in advance. The level then reduced to £57 million as these 
funds were utilised.

Table 2: Investment Profile

Investments with: 31 Mar 16 
£m

30 Jun 16 
£m

30 Sep 16 
£m

UK Banks 11 13 13
Non-UK Banks 4 13 12
UK Building Societies 4 5 5
Money Market Funds 16 29 22
Other Local Authorities 16 5 5
TOTAL 51 65 57

3.9 The table shows approximately where the investments came from.

Table 3: Investment Sources

Usable Reserves
31 Mar 16 

£m
30 Jun 16 

£m
30 Sep 16 

£m

General Fund 11 11 11
Revenue Budget Contingency 12 12 12
Earmarked Reserves 73 74 74
Capital Receipts Reserve 8 9 9
Capital Grants Unapplied 10 10 10

114 116 116
Internal Borrowing in lieu of 
External Borrowing (63) (51) (59)
Reserves Invested 51 65 57

Page 63



3.10 With short-term investment interest rates having remained at historic low 
levels, it is more cost effective in the short-term to use internal resources, 
rather than take on longer term external borrowing. By doing so, the Authority 
is able to reduce net borrowing costs, despite foregone investment income, 
and also reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst this strategy is beneficial over the 
short term, internal resources are reducing and it is unlikely that such this can 
be sustained long term. The benefits of internal borrowing are monitored 
regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 
borrowing when long-term rates are forecast to eventually rise.

3.11 Security of capital remains the main investment objective. This is maintained 
by following the counterparty policy set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement for 2016/17. “High credit quality” organisations are those 
having a long-term credit rating of BBB+ or higher that are domiciled in the UK 
or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher.

3.12 Counterparty credit quality is assessed and monitored with reference to credit 
ratings (the Authority’s minimum long-term counterparty rating for 2016/17 is 
BBB+ across rating agencies Fitch, S&P and Moody’s); Credit Default Swap 
(CDS) prices, financial statements, information on potential government 
support and reports in the quality financial press.

3.13 The chart shows the credit composition of the investment portfolio.

Chart 1: Investment Portfolio – Credit Components at 30 September 2016

AAA
49%

AA-
20%

AA
3%

A
24%

Unrated
4%

Credit Components

Note: ‘Unrated’ institutions are Building Societies that despite the absence of 
a formal rating, are deemed credit worthy due to analysis of their performance 
over a variety of credit metrics. These institutions are subject to a lower 
counterparty limit than those with formal credit ratings

Page 64



3.14 Investments with banks and building societies were primarily call accounts 
and fixed-rate term deposits.  The maximum duration of any new investment 
was constantly reviewed in line with the prevailing credit outlook during the 
year as well as market conditions.

3.15 The introduction of bail-ins, and the preference being given to large numbers 
of depositors other than local authorities means that the risks of making 
unsecured deposits rose relative to other investment options. The Authority 
included further options for investment diversification in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2016/17. In keeping with the DCLG 
Guidance on Investments, the Council maintained a sufficient level of liquidity 
through the use of Money Market Funds and the use of call accounts.

3.16 For diversification purposes the Treasury Management team invest in a 
variety of counterparties and financial instruments to help mitigate 
counterparty and liquidity risks. A summary of the instruments invested in 
follows:

Chart 2: Investment Portfolio – Financial Instruments

Certificates of 
Deposit

9%
Managed Fund

3%

Money Market 
Funds
39%

Notice Account
9%

Term Deposit
40%

Investment Instruments

3.17 Various indicators of credit risk reacted negatively to the result of the 
referendum on the UK’s membership of the European Union. UK bank credit 
default swaps saw a modest rise but bank share prices fell sharply, on 
average by 20%, with UK-focused banks experiencing the largest falls. Non-
UK bank share prices were not immune although the fall in their share prices 
was less pronounced.

Page 65



3.18 Fitch downgraded the UK’s sovereign rating by one notch to AA from AA+, 
and Standard & Poor’s downgraded its corresponding rating by two notches to 
AA from AAA.

3.19 In July Arlingclose completed a review of unrated building societies’ annual 
financial statements. Cumberland, Harpenden and Vernon Building Society 
were removed from Arlingclose’s advised list, following a deterioration in 
credit indicators. The maximum advised maturity was also lowered for eleven 
societies from 6 months to 100 days due to the uncertainty facing the UK 
property market following the EU referendum.

3.20 The budget for investment income is in the region of £300,000 and this is 
affected by two key factors:

a) Low interest rates offered for investments and
b) The continuing policy of relying on internal borrowing to temporarily 

fund and thereby delay borrowing for the capital programme, which 
reduces balances available to put into investments but generates larger 
savings in interest incurred.

3.21 The average return on investments at the end of September was 0.55%. 
However this does not reflect the savings of an estimated 3.5% on delayed 
borrowing for amounts internally borrowed. The UK Bank Rate was reduced 
further to a new historic low of 0.25% in August. The return on investments, 
along with our policy of internally borrowing, reflects prevailing market 
conditions and the objective of optimising returns commensurate with the 
principles of security and liquidity.

BORROWING AND DEBT MANAGEMENT

3.22 The Council undertakes borrowing to fund capital expenditure. As explained in 
paragraph 3.12, the use of internal resources in lieu of borrowing, in the main, 
continues to be the most cost effective means of funding capital expenditure. 
As short-term investment interest rates have remained, and are likely to 
remain at least over the immediate future, lower than long-term borrowing 
rates, the Authority determined it was more cost effective in the short-term to 
use internal resources instead.

3.23 The use of internal borrowing will not be sustainable over the medium term. 
Elements of the Capital Programme will ultimately require funding via 
borrowing from external sources. Also as reserves are called upon the 
resources temporarily available to use in lieu of external borrowing diminish, 
meaning the Council will reach a point when it is no longer possible to delay 
borrowing any further. To reiterate internal borrowing does not remove the 
need to externally borrow, it merely delays incurring the debt and 
consequently the financing costs.

Page 66



3.24 The decision to continue to use internal resources in lieu of borrowing for 
capital purposes, thereby reducing borrowing costs will generate savings in 
2016/17 of £1.8 million whilst complying with the Regulations. In future years, 
as cash flows diminish through use of reserve and/or interest rates rise, 
external borrowing will have to increase. The Treasury Management team will 
continue to proactively manage the Authority’s cash flow to delay external 
borrowing for as long as is possible and prudent to generate savings.

3.25 Borrowing options and the timing of such borrowing will continue to be 
assessed in conjunction with the Council’s treasury advisor.

3.26 The Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) remains the Council’s preferred 
source of longer term borrowing given the transparency and control that its 
facilities continue to provide.

3.27 Temporary, short dated loans, predominantly from other local authorities 
remain affordable and attractive for periods of low cash flow, with rates 
available between 0.2% and 0.4%.

3.28 Other Long-Term Liabilities include the schools Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
scheme and finance leases used to purchase vehicles plant and equipment. 
Under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) these are shown on 
the Balance Sheet as a Financial Liability and therefore need to be 
considered within any Treasury Management decision making process.

3.29 The Council has not entered into any new lease agreements during 2016/17.

3.30 Table 4: Council Debt at 30 September 2016

Debt
Balance 31 

Mar 16 
(£m)

 Maturities 
(£m)

Additions 
(£m)

Balance 
30 Sep 16 

(£m)
Borrowings
PWLB (39) 7 0 (32)
Market Loans (166) 39 (35) (162)
Interest Free Loans (3) 0 0 (3)
Other Long Term Liabilities (50) 1 0 (49)
TOTAL (258) 47 (35) (246)

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)

3.31 Where the Authority finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside 
resources each year to repay that debt in later years.  The amount charged to 
the revenue budget for the repayment of debt is known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). Although there has been no statutory minimum 
since 2008, the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have 
regard to the Department for Communities and Local Government’s Guidance 
(DCLG) on MRP most recently issued in 2012.

Page 67



3.32 The broad aim of the DCLG Guidance is to ensure that debt is repaid over a 
period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital 
expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the 
period implicit in the determination of that grant. DCLG prescribe various 
options to calculate this repayment provision.

3.33 The 2016/17 Treasury Management Strategy (Council 3 March 2016) agreed 
the use of the DCLG Option 3: Asset Life Equal Instalment Method to 
calculate MRP on assets funded from unsupported borrowing. The updated 
Strategy removed the previous 25 year calculation limit as this did not accord 
with the asset lives contained within the Council asset register. By aligning 
asset lives to the asset register the total amount of MRP repayable remains 
the same but is spread over a longer repayment term reflecting the life of the 
assets involved. The MRP charge period is a ‘notional’ charge and extending 
the repayment profile does not therefore impact on any interest costs 

3.34 The 2016/17 revenue budget was reduced by £450,000 based on the 
estimated minimum reduction achievable from the revised asset life approach. 
This reduction was reflected in the agreed 2016/17 Council budget.

3.35 The 2015/16 Treasury Management Annual Report (Cabinet 18 July 2016) 
explained that the DCLG ‘Option 3, Asset Life Method’ to calculate the MRP 
charge was under review and may lead to a revised charge profile. Under 
Option 3 there are two sub-options, the equal instalment method or the 
annuity method which can be applied. Work has been undertaken to examine 
the sub-options combined with matching the profiles to the asset lives within 
the asset register. The total amount repayable remains the same but the 
profile of provision differs as shown in Appendix 1.

3.36 Both amended methods of calculation adhere to the Treasury Management 
Strategy and fulfil DCLG ‘Option 3’ in resulting in a prudent provision for the 
repayment of capital debt. Adoption of the ‘Equal Instalment Method’ will allow 
the Authority to release a one-off amount of £3.2 million in 2016/17 for MRP. 
This includes an adjustment of £2.5 million for past years charges having 
been higher than required under the new method, with an ongoing budget 
saving of £0.45 million per year.

3.37 The “Annuity Method” produces a profile of principal repayments which starts 
low and increases each year reflecting the time value of money i.e. £1 in year 
1 will have more purchasing power than to £1 in year 10. Adoption of this 
method would release a one off amount £6.9 million in 2016/17 for MRP. This 
includes £5.5 million in respect of adjustments in 2016/17 reflecting previous 
years charges having been higher than required using the annuity calculation 
method. There will also be an ongoing saving in future years on a reducing 
basis starting at £1.4 million before rising to above the current budgeted MRP 
level in approximately 20 years’ time. Appendix 1 provides details of the 
revised schedule of charges for both methods.

Page 68



3.38 The main difference between the two MRP Option 3 methods is the amount 
released from backdated adjustments. This is calculated to be £3 million (£2.5 
million equal instalments compared to £5.5 million for annuity, as per the two 
tables below). The annuity method profile results in a lower charge to the 
provision until 2038 as detailed in Appendix 1.

Table 5 - Historic MRP Adjustment Based on 'Equal Instalment' Method

Year Ending                 
31st March 

Original MRP              
£

Revised Asset Life 
MRP                                    

£

Adjustment 
Amount                    

£
2010 470,778 375,160 (95,619)
2011 635,011 501,872 (133,139)
2012 1,030,314 805,303 (225,011)
2013 1,823,436 1,440,717 (382,719)
2014 2,048,776 1,593,662 (455,114)
2015 2,367,776 1,600,369 (767,407)
2016 2,327,000 1,810,716 (516,284)
Total 10,703,090 8,127,798 (2,575,292)

Table 6 - Historic MRP Adjustment Based on 'Annuity' Method

Year Ending                 
31st March 

Original MRP               
£

Annuity MRP               
£

Adjustment 
Amount                    

£
2010 470,778 219,505 (251,273)
2011 635,011 296,467 (338,544)
2012 1,030,314 503,914 (526,400)
2013 1,823,436 888,989 (934,447)
2014 2,048,776 1,000,060 (1,048,716)
2015 2,367,776 1,035,968 (1,331,808)
2016 2,327,000 1,205,851 (1,121,149)
Total 10,703,090 5,150,754 (5,552,336)

3.39 Wirral’s treasury advisers Arlingclose have assisted with work on the MRP 
calculations and approach. Given the technical accounting nature of the 
calculations and the backdating in respect of past years, liaison is taking place 
with Grant Thornton Wirral’s external auditors to ensure necessary 
compliance with any accounting regulation and legislation. Authorities 
including others on Merseyside are currently calculating MRP using both of 
the methods outlined within Option 3.

Page 69



COMPLIANCE WITH PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

3.40 The introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004 gave Local Authorities greater 
freedom in making capital strategy decisions. The prudential indicators allow 
the Council to establish prudence and affordability within the Capital Strategy. 
The indicators as sown in Appendix 2 demonstrate that the treasury 
management decisions are in line with the Strategy, being prudent and 
affordable

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 In the financial year 2016/17 proactive treasury management activities are 
estimated to produce a one-off saving of £5.0 million. Adoption of the Annuity 
method for calculating MRP as outlined above would increase this to an 
estimated one-off saving of £8.7 million.

4.2 The Budget 2016/17 included an on-going revenue saving of £0.45 million 
through the adoption of the Equal Instalment Method. The adoption of the 
Annuity Method increases the 2017/18 saving to £1.25 million.

4.3 External debt finance has reduced to £197 million, a decrease of £67.3 million 
since 2012, despite additional annual capital commitments. This reduction has 
also contributed to the generation of substantial savings.

4.4 Investment income has also helped to generate resources for service delivery.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Council’s has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. This requires the annual production of Prudential Indicators and 
a Treasury Management Strategy Statement and the reporting of treasury 
management activities at least twice a year.

5.2 The adoption of the Annuity Method of calculating the Minimum Revenue 
Provision is a change from the previously agreed decision to use the Equal 
Instalment Method. As this presents a change to the Council agreed Treasury 
Management Strategy this revision needs to be agreed by Council.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

Page 70



7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Council is responsible for treasury decisions and activity and none of 
these decisions are without risk. The successful identification, monitoring and 
control of risk are important and the main risks are:-

• Liquidity Risk (Inadequate cash resources).
• Market or Interest Rate Risk (Fluctuations in interest rate levels).
• Inflation Risk (Exposure to inflation).
• Credit and Counterparty Risk (Security of investments).
• Refinancing Risk (Impact of debt maturing in future years).
• Legal and Regulatory Risk.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The change in approach regarding the treatment of the Minimum Revenue 
Provision has been the subject of discussion with Arlingclose, the Treasury 
Management Advisors, and Grant Thornton, the Council’s External Auditors.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Sarah Cox
Principal Accountant
telephone:  0151 666 3421
email:   sarahcox@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Minimum Revenue Provision – Revised Charging Schedule 
Appendix 2 Prudential Indicators 2016/17

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Cabinet
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2016/17
Treasury Management Annual Report 2015/16
Treasury Management Performance Monitoring

22 February 2016
16 July 2016

7 November 2016

Page 71

mailto:sarahcox@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Minimum Revenue Provision – Revised Charging Schedule

Year Ending                 
31st March 

Revised Asset 
Life MRP                  

£
Annuity MRP               

£

Annual Annuity             
(Saving)/Cost         

£
2010 375,160 219,505 (155,654) 
2011 501,872 296,467 (205,405) 
2012 805,303 503,914 (301,389) 
2013 1,440,717 888,989 (551,728) 
2014 1,593,662 1,000,060 (593,601) 
2015 1,600,369 1,035,968 (564,401) 
2016 1,810,716 1,205,851 (604,865) 
2017 2,344,474 1,611,438 (733,036) 
2018 2,845,213 2,036,769 (808,444) 
2019 3,646,647 2,569,796 (1,076,851) 
2020 3,863,784 2,685,555 (1,178,229) 
2021 4,147,910 2,922,924 (1,224,986) 
2022 4,403,102 3,138,525 (1,264,577) 
2023 4,581,673 3,278,278 (1,303,396) 
2024 4,581,673 3,393,747 (1,187,927) 
2025 4,473,451 3,379,413 (1,094,038) 
2026 4,448,753 3,470,533 (978,221) 
2027 4,395,383 3,531,847 (863,536) 
2028 4,336,989 3,592,734 (744,255) 
2029 4,291,916 3,669,962 (621,954) 
2030 4,245,716 3,731,830 (513,886) 
2031 4,159,755 3,739,846 (419,909) 
2032 3,889,247 3,466,746 (422,501) 
2033 3,542,825 3,101,007 (441,818) 
2034 3,532,276 3,195,942 (336,335) 
2035 3,523,868 3,294,111 (229,757) 
2036 3,508,350 3,388,849 (119,501) 
2037 3,469,985 3,457,931 (12,054) 
2038 3,406,197 3,490,891 84,695
2039 3,388,128 3,588,026 199,898
2040 3,358,251 3,660,027 301,775
2041 3,350,678 3,778,388 427,710
2042 3,336,816 3,891,149 554,332
2043 3,263,147 3,896,895 633,748
2044 3,195,670 3,923,482 727,812
2045 3,174,273 4,022,487 848,214
2046 3,055,795 3,969,393 913,597
2047 2,744,248 3,623,039 878,791
2048 2,510,814 3,420,151 909,336
2049 2,158,701 2,973,976 815,276
2050 2,158,701 3,084,940 926,239
2051 2,158,701 3,200,100 1,041,400
2052 2,158,701 3,319,620 1,160,919
2053 2,152,949 3,430,967 1,278,018
2054 1,865,793 3,050,619 1,184,826
2055 1,528,802 2,568,219 1,039,417
2056 1,207,653 2,091,647 883,994
2057 913,919 1,652,307 738,388
2058 585,965 1,142,693 556,728
2059 538,516 1,098,703 560,187
2060 406,553 810,985 404,432
2061 377,071 769,981 392,909
2062 362,834 764,113 401,279
2063 208,886 395,594 186,708
2064 154,951 280,949 125,998
2065 148,787 275,124 126,337
2066 145,740 277,212 131,472
2067 86,940 164,445 77,505
2068 35,220 75,531 40,311

Total Repaid 144,500,190 144,500,190 0

Page 72



Schedule Assumptions:

This table illustrates the comparative MRP charging profiles of the ‘Equal Instalment’ 
method and the ‘Annuity’ method. It is based on the following assumptions: 
 

 That the Capital Expenditure plans (and categorisation of calculated asset 
lives) follow those reported in the September 2016 Capital Monitoring.

 .The maximum estimated life for any asset category is 50 years.

 An additional £10 million of Capital financing per annum has been factored in 
up to and including 2021/22.

Page 73



APPENDIX 2

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016/17

(a) Net Debt and Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) Indicator

The CFR measures the underlying need to borrow money to finance capital 
expenditure. The Prudential Code stipulates that net debt (debt net of 
investments) should not, except in the short term, exceed the CFR for the 
previous year plus the estimated additional CFR requirement for the current 
and next two financial years.

£m
CFR in previous year (2015/16 actual) 335
Increase in CFR in 2016/17 (estimate) 3
Decrease in CFR in 2017/18 (estimate) -16
Decrease in CFR in 2018/19 (estimate) -16
Accumulative CFR 306

Net Debt does not exceed the CFR and it is not expected to in the future. This 
is a key indicator of prudence

(b) Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 
The Operational Boundary for External Debt is based on the Authority’s 
estimate of most likely, i.e. prudent, but not worst case scenario for external 
debt. It links directly to the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the 
capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements and is a key 
management tool for in-year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities comprise 
finance leases and the Private Finance Initiative that are not borrowing but form 
part of the Authority’s debt.

The Authorised Limit for External Debt is the affordable borrowing limit 
determined in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003.  It is the 
maximum amount of debt that the Authority can legally owe.  The authorised 
limit provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for unusual 
cash movements.
There were no breaches to the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary 
during the first half of 2016/17.  

Operational 
Boundary 

(Approved) 
2016/17

£m

Authorised Limit 
(Approved) 

2016/17
£m

Actual 
External Debt 

30/09/2016
£m

Borrowing 337 347 197
Other Long-term 
Liabilities 58 63 49

Total 395 410 246

Page 74



(c) Upper Limits for Fixed and Variable Interest Rate Exposure 

These allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes 
in interest rates. The upper limit for variable rate exposure allows for the use of 
variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on the 
portfolio of investments.

Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed Rate of 

Interest
Variable Rate 

of Interest Total
Borrowings £197.3m £0m £197.3m
Proportion of Borrowings 100% 0% 100%
Upper Limit 100% 100%
Investments £27.8m £29.6m £57.4m
Proportion of Investments 48% 52% 100%
Upper Limit 100% 100%
Net Borrowing £169.5m £-29.6m £139.9m
Proportion of Total Net Borrowing 121% -21% 100%

(d) Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing 

This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 

Maturity Structure of Upper Lower Actual Fixed % of Fixed
Fixed Rate Borrowing Limit Limit Rate Borrowing Rate Borrowing

as at 30 Sep 16 as at 30 Sep 16
% % £m %

Under 12 Months 80.0 0.0 10.7 5.4
12 Months and within 24 
Months 50.0 0.0 11.0 5.6
24 Months and within 5 
years 50.0 0.0 7.8 4.0
5 years and within 10 
years 50.0 0.0 36.5 18.5
Over 10 years 100.0 20.0 131.3 66.5
Total 197.3 100.0

(e) Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days

This indicator allows the Council to manage the risk inherent in investments 
longer than 364 days and for 2016/17 the limit was set at £30 million.

As at 30 September 2016 the Council had no investments longer than 364 
days.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

AND COUNCIL BUDGET 2017/18

Councillor Phil Davies (Leader of the Council) said :

“Every year, this Council faces a growing challenge to set a budget which enables us 
to protect the vulnerable and improve the lives of our residents. To achieve this we 
have to balance the rising costs and demand for services with the income we raise 
from Business Rates and Council Tax and the shrinking grants we receive from 
Central Government.

“To deal with these challenges, Councils like Wirral have historically survived by 
making minor reductions to services, small increases in charges and asking our staff 
and our partners to do lot more with a lot less. This time, the truth is incremental 
change will no longer get the job done.

“Over the next four years, Wirral Council has to find from increased income or 
spending reductions £132 million. That’s on top of the huge reductions and cuts we 
have already had to absorb and includes the requirement to find £45 million just next 
year. 

“We have ambitions for Wirral which we will not lower or compromise. We are 
planning long term, and will design a budget strategy covering the next four years 
which will allow us to deliver fundamental redesign of how the Council works and the 
services it provides.

“We have spelled out where our priorities lie. The Wirral Plan and our 20 Pledges are 
our contract with the people of Wirral and we will deliver as promised. In this new 
age for local government, it is our job to make sure we focus our efforts, our 
resources and our energy on what is truly important to residents.” 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



REPORT SUMMARY

Over the next four years, Wirral Council is projecting a funding gap of £132 million 
due in part to Government austerity measures, rising costs and increasing demand 
for services.

This report presents a Financial Strategy to enable the Council to set a balanced 
budget for 2017/18 and provide provisional budgets for the subsequent three years 
to 2020/21.

Over this period the Council will review every service currently provided, developing 
a range of new delivery arrangements to ensure the right outcomes are achieved for 
Wirral residents at a sustainable cost. The Transformation Programme is a critical 
programme of work, which will take time to deliver but ensure the organisation is 
able to meet its promises to residents within much reduced financial resources.

Under Government plans local authorities will no longer receive the general Revenue 
Support Grant and become largely self-reliant based on income generated from 
Council Tax, Business Rates and Fees and charges. A major focus in the Financial 
Strategy is on generating more income to enable the Wirral Plan to be delivered.

The report affects all Wards within the Borough.

The decisions in this report are key decisions.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 The forecast Budget funding gap for 2017/18 is currently £45 million and that the 
projected Budget funding gap for the period 2017/21 is £132 million be noted.

2 The impact of the Budget reductions and proposals for 2017/18-2020/21 as 
summarised in Section 3 be noted.

3 Officers be authorised to complete any required consultation and engagement 
with residents, partners and other stakeholders where required on the budget 
proposals in advance of Budget decisions in February 2017.

4 This report be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee workshops 
which are to be scheduled for January 2017 to consider the proposals in advance 
of budget decisions in February 2017.

5 An updated Budget Report and Medium Term Financial Strategy be presented to 
Cabinet on 20 February 2017. This to cover the updated financial projections, 
including the impact of the Local Government Finance Settlement expected in 
mid-December 2016, and the outcome from the engagement and consultation 
undertaken.

Page 78



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy supports the delivery of the Wirral Plan. 
The Strategy, and associated financial governance arrangements, is key to 
ensuring the Council is well run and financially stable. Throughout the year 
major financial matters are presented to Cabinet in a series of reports which 
highlight the financial position so enabling decisions to be taken to ensure the 
Council remains financially stable.

1.2 The Council has to meet a legal requirement to set a balanced Budget in 
March 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year. This report details the approach 
and includes proposals and initiatives to meet the challenge for 2017/18 and 
for the following three year period as the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
supports the delivery of the Wirral Plan.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has a legal requirement to set a balanced Budget each March for 
the following financial year. This report details proposals and initiatives which 
are subject to any appropriate engagement and consultation and, if 
implemented, increase income or reduce expenditure and assist in decisions 
regarding setting the Budget.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Council continues to face unprecedented financial challenges. The 
Government has announced the removal of the Revenue Support Grant and 
that local authorities will retain 100% of Business Rates. Authorities will 
effectively be funded from Business Rates, Council Tax, income generated 
locally and any Specific Grants from Government. Against this the Council 
faces additional costs from increasing demand for services as a consequence 
of the demographic changes associated with an ageing population.

3.2 Wirral, along with the vast majority of local authorities, accepted the 
Government 4 Year Settlement Offer. Whilst this provides certainty of funding 
over the period 2016/17-2019/20 in that the annual reductions in Grant are 
clear it also confirms increasing Council Tax by 3.99% per year (which 
includes the 2% Adult Social Care Precept) and increasing Council Tax 
income through the building of a minimum of 700 homes per year. This will 
see Council income at approximately the same level in 2020 as in 2016.

3.3 The proposals detailed in this report are intended to enable the Council to 
manage the pressures in a planned way not only to meet the legal 
requirement for a balanced Budget for 2017/18 but also contribute towards 
addressing the forecast funding gap over the period of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2018/19-2020/21.

Page 79



THE WIRRAL PLAN

3.4 The Council Plan was approved by Council on 13 July 2015 and was then 
adopted by all strategic partners from the public, private and third sectors to 
create the first Wirral Plan.

3.5 The Plan provides a clear ambition for the borough based on three 
overarching priority areas::-

PEOPLE
Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets 
a good start in life and older residents are respected and valued.

BUSINESS
Wirral is a place where employers want to invest and businesses thrive.

ENVIRONMENT
Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and 
an excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone who lives here.

3.6 The ambition for Wirral is underpinned by 20 pledges which define the 
outcomes to be achieved by 2020. This shared set of outcomes, goals and 
objectives will see the partners working towards integrating services and 
budgets and making best use of the available public sector resources for the 
benefit of Wirral people. Partners committed to playing a lead role in achieving 
8 of the 20 pledges.

3.7 There are a series of Strategies which support the Plan that have been 
agreed and have been developed into a series of under-pinning Delivery 
Plans and the outcomes of this work will inform the development of the MTFS.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2017/2021

3.8 The current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering 2016/17-
2020/21 was approved by Council in March 2016. This detailed the financial 
challenge and the size of the anticipated remaining funding gap.

3.9 The Wirral Plan  provides the framework within which the Budget and the 
MTFS will be developed and informs the development of budgets, the 
prioritisation of resources and the difficult decisions that need to be made. 
The intention is to determine a sustainable and stable budget over the period.

3.10 As previously reported the four years 2017/18 to 2020/21 sees the Council 
facing a continued, challenging financial future. The ending of the general 
Government Grant together with the pressures of demographic changes and 
inflation mean there is an anticipated funding gap of £132 million over the four 
years and this includes a £45 million funding gap in 2017/18.

Page 80



3.11 Previously reported Four Year Budget Gap (if no actions taken) 

Year 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£m £m £m £m

Projected Spend 286 304 322 340
Projected Income 241 234 227 208
Cumulative Gap 45 70 95 132
Gap 45 25 25 37

3.12 The objective is to develop a Strategy and associated programme of changes 
to close the funding gap and focus future limited resources on the delivery of 
Wirral Plan outcomes and pledges. This includes using the Council’s 
projected net revenue budget in the best way to deliver on our pledges, in 
partnership with our other public sector colleagues.

3.13 Forecasts of the financial position are kept under review as circumstances 
change and decisions are taken. These are based on assumptions about 
inflation, financial pressures and levels of income such as grant.

THE BUDGET STRATEGY

3.14 Our Medium Term Financial Strategy focusses on ensuring resources are 
targeted towards achieving the 20 Pledges articulated in the Wirral Plan whilst 
operating within the reduced financial envelope we have available. The total 
budget deficit for the MTFS period is projected to be £132 million, with greater 
pressure being faced in the earlier part of the period.

3.15 The financial position remains subject to review. The Chancellor’s Autumn 
Statement on 23 November 2016 confirmed the Government Department 
Spending Plans which were agreed in 2015 so Government funding and 
support for social care remained unchanged. The Local Government Finance 
Settlement will follow by mid-December 2016. The Transport and Waste 
levies will not be confirmed until February 2017.

3.16 The Council is increasingly planning for the longer-term, with a view to setting 
sustainable and achievable plans to deliver improved outcomes for local 
people. The budget proposals for 2017/18-2020/21 that follow demonstrate 
that approach; with a focus on ensuring resources are invested in the right 
places, taking regard of the needs of residents and the Wirral Plan pledges. 

3.17 This structured and strategic approach to budget setting over the medium 
term reflects the changing circumstances in which the Council and partners 
operate. It means there is a demand to take a longer and higher-level view of 
what Wirral will look like and need in the future. It requires the maximisation of 
every opportunity to innovate and increase income. The Strategy that has 
driven the development of budget proposals has overarching themes of 
Delivering Differently, Income and Resources and Service Changes.

Page 81



THEME : DELIVERING DIFFERENTLY

3.18 The Wirral Plan sets out how public services will work together to deliver our 
ambitions for Wirral. The Transformation Programme is a fundamental 
redesign of what the Council provides and more importantly how the services 
are provided. It will cover almost all of the Council’s directly-provided services 
to re-focus their delivery on the outcomes agreed in the Wirral Plan.

3.19 This Programme is critical to the achievement of a balanced budget across 
the MTFS period. It is an ongoing programme to both transform our services 
and achieve significant savings.  While not sufficient to cover the total funding 
gap they form a key part of the budget strategy for 2017/18 and beyond.  The 
Transformation Programme has two main strands, Customer Experience and 
Assets, as described in the table below:

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE ASSETS
To define and transform services to 
meet the needs of Wirral residents.

To reform the Wirral estate to be 
efficient and strategically constructed, 
to support the 20 Pledges and 
increase income.

Target areas include:
 Integration in Adult Social 

Care
 Children’s Services
 Community Safety
 Customer Insight and 

Segmentation
 Customer Contact

Target areas include;
 Consolidation of office 

accommodation
 Development of ‘One Public 

Estate’, to encourage better use 
of buildings by partners

 Commercialisation
 Service transformation: 

Libraries, Leisure, Culture and 
Parks and Open Spaces

3.20 Achieving change of this scale is complex and takes time to develop the 
alternatives that are both deliverable and sustainable so the balance between 
speed and accuracy is critical to a successful outcome.

3.21 Delivering Differently: Summary of the Proposals

DELIVERING DIFFERENTLY 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Leisure and Cultural Services 0.80 - - 10.30 11.10
Access Wirral 0.30 - - 4.30 4.60
Community Safety (Safer Wirral) - - - 0.10 0.10
Adult Social Care Integration 2.90 4.00 3.50 4.00 14.40
Children’s Services Managing Demand 1.40 3.70 3.70 1.20 10.00
Sub Total 5.40 7.70 7.20 19.90 40.20

Page 82



3.22 Commentary supporting the proposals:-

 The initial proposals for leisure and cultural services are based on the 
completion of the transfer of the Beechwood Community Centre, 
additional income being generated following investment into the facilities 
at the Oval and Leasowe Sports Centres and a review of operating 
arrangements at Woodchurch Centre. A detailed review is being 
undertaken of leisure and cultural services, including the Council’s leisure 
services, parks and open spaces, cultural services (including the Floral 
Pavilion, Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Priory) and libraries. The 
proposals from this review will be available in early 2017 with a report to 
be presented to Cabinet for consideration.

 Under Access Wirral initial options are based on service efficiencies and 
the removal of vacant posts. A programme to redesign access to council 
services, improving how residents can contact and do business with the 
Council, is being developed through the Transformation Programme.

 The 2016/17 initiative to deliver the co-location, transfer and integration of 
Community Safety to the Police will provide an opportunity to deliver 
efficiency savings at a later point in the four year period.

 Along with the majority of local authorities Wirral faces increasing demand 
in both adults and children’s social care. Our aim is to manage this 
demand (and the cost) of specialist, substantial services through 
progressing with major integration projects with health sector partners. 
This sees initial work around Adult Social Care Commissioning and Older 
People’s Services being integrated with the Wirral Clinical Commissioning 
Group and the Wirral Community Trust respectively from 2017/18.

 The Council response to the Ofsted report into Children’s Services which 
was issued in September 2016 requires investment to transform the 
service provided. This investment is being evaluated and will form part of 
the Council’s Transformation Programme (thereby funded through Capital 
Receipts without increasing pressure on the revenue budget). The 
proposals relate to work to ensure Children’s Services require no ongoing 
growth through managing demand more effectively. 

THEME : INCOME AND RESOURCES

3.23 Government proposals will result in local authorities receiving no general 
Revenue Support Grant from 2020 and being increasingly reliant upon the 
income generated locally from Council Tax, Business Rates and Fees and 
Charges.

Page 83



3.24 The Council must do all it can to build a stronger financial position. 
Maximising our income to offset the requirement for cuts is incredibly 
important to our Strategy. Every pound we generate is a pound that can be 
invested in securing services people need. This will not be achieved through 
simply charging more for services. The Wirral Plan sets out aims to increase 
investment, jobs and housing in the borough. This involves making better use 
of the assets available to ourselves and partners and translates into higher 
levels of Business Rates, Council Tax and people in work.

3.25 As part of the effective and efficient management of resources the 
assumptions regarding future trends and indications from Government are 
kept under review. This also involves ensuring we get the best value for 
money from any contracts and that the services we purchase are those that 
best meet the needs of Wirral people.

3.26 Income and Resources: Summary of the Proposals

REVISED ASSUMPTIONS 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Revised Pay Assumptions (now 1%) 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 3.50
Removed General Prices Inflation 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 2.00
Removed Unallocated Growth 2.30 4.90 4.70 2.40 14.30
Reduced Treasury Management costs 2.00 - - - 2.00
Transformation Team Capitalisation 0.50 - -0.50 - -
Sub Total 6.30 6.40 5.70 3.40 21.80

3.27 Commentary on the proposals:-

 When making the financial projections a range of assumptions are made 
based upon the information available at that time. These are then 
subsequently refined as further information is obtained. This includes 
clarification that the Pay Award nationally has been projected at 1% and 
projections relating to inflation.

 Sums identified for potential growth have been removed and will be 
replaced should proposals be submitted for consideration by, and then 
subsequently confirmed, by Cabinet as part of the budget setting process.

 The reduced Treasury Management costs flow from the regular review of 
the Capital Programme and Treasury Management as reported to Cabinet 
with the capitalisation reflecting the opportunity offered by the flexibility 
around use of Capital Receipts.

Page 84



INCREASING INCOME 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

C Tax Increase 1.99% per year 2.50 2.70 2.90 3.10 11.20
Adult Social Care Precept 2% per year 2.50 2.70 2.90 -  8.10
Housing Growth 1.10 1.70 5.30 7.60 15.70
Improved Better Care Fund 1.40 6.90 6.00 - 14.30
Business Rates 0.90 - - 1.30 2.20
New Homes Bonus (phasing out) -0.20 -1.50 -0.20 -0.60 -2.50
Increase in Planning Income -  0.10 - 0.10  0.20
Litter and Dog fouling Fines 0.20 - - - 0.20
Sub Total 8.40 12.60 16.90 11.50 49.40

3.28 Commentary on the proposals:-

 As part of the Council accepting the Government’s offer of a four-year 
Settlement covering 2016/17 to 2019/20, a number of conditions were 
attached. These included the agreement to implement both Council Tax 
and Social Care Precept increases of 1.99% and 2% per year. A further 
condition was to commit to achieving housebuilding targets on an annual 
basis throughout the four years. By meeting these conditions the 
Government projections were that authorities would have broadly the 
same income in 2020 as in 2016.

 In respect of the housing growth target Wirral Council has more than 
13,000 extant planning permissions for new houses approved and will 
work to ensure a large proportion of these new homes are built, providing 
new housing for residents 

 The Improved Better Care Fund is Government funding allocated to local 
authorities to support the Adult Social Care budget and was also agreed 
as part of the four-year Settlement. Along with the Adult Social Care 
Precept this additional income goes towards meeting the increasing 
demand for, and increasing costs of, social care.

 The increases in Business Rates are based on additional premises being 
added to the Rating List. Those for 2017/18 having been agreed since the 
2016/17 Budget was set.

 As housing and regeneration schemes develop there will be an increase 
in planning applications and therefore fee income. The income from areas 
such as Fixed Penalty Notices for littering and dog fouling are agreed 
initiatives with the income now forming part of the budget in future years.

Page 85



COMMISSIONING / CONTRACTS 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Estates and Assets Management 0.70 0.70 0.50 - 1.90
Range of Efficiencies 0.60 - - - 0.60
Digital (IT Savings) 0.20 - - - 0.20
Supported Housing Contract Efficiencies 0.75 - - - 0.75
Public Health (Renegotiated Contracts) 3.00 - - - 3.00
Changes in Waste Contract 0.50 - -  - 0.50
LCR Integration of Adult Safeguarding 0.20 - - - 0.20
LCR Efficiencies: Specialist Transport 0.50 - - - 0.50
Transport Levy 2.50 2.30 2.10 1.80 8.70
Sub Total 8.95 3.00 2.60 1.80 16.35

3.29 Commentary on the proposals:-

 The Council is working with partners to deliver the Asset Strategy which 
includes the release of surplus assets whilst also looking to maximise 
income through rental and investment opportunities.

 Within the smaller value efficiencies there is work on reducing the Council 
energy costs with the proposal for a 10% reduction and a number of other 
small value areas such as the Environmental Health Levy.

 With the continued capital investment into Information Technology, there 
are benefits in respect of reductions in support with the savings realised 
that will be delivered in 2017/18.

 Supported Housing contracts continue to be reviewed. In previous years 
this has realised significant efficiencies and this continued in 2016/17 with 
further efficiencies identified which will be realised in 2017/18.

 Public Health continuously review contracts which are complex as many 
of the benefits are long-term. Through working with users as to the 
benefits being delivered a revised approach, particularly in relation to the 
contracts relating to Drugs and Alcohol have realised savings for 2017/18.

 The Council is seeking to negotiate a reduction in the cost of the Waste 
Contract.

 Across the Liverpool City Region there are projects underway which will 
deliver savings which cover Adult Safeguarding and Specialist Transport, 
The proposals are being developed over the coming months with the 
target savings set.

 Indications are that the transport Levy will be lower than the Council 
projections although this will not be confirmed until the Levy is set in 
February 2017.

Page 86



FEES & CHARGES 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/210
£m

TOTAL
£m

Fees & Charges – general 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 4.00
Car Parking 1.05 0.25 - - 1.30
Leisure Centres 0.50 - - - 0.50
Garden Waste Collection 0.40 - - -  0.40
Business Rates Discretionary Relief 0.30 - - -  0.30
Sub Total 3.25 1.25 1.00 1.00 6.50

3.30 Commentary on the proposals:-

 All fees and charges are being reviewed. This includes ensuring full 
recovery, particularly for specialist and technical services, and that the 
charges are reviewed with regards to inflationary changes, comparisons 
with other local authorities and adopting a more commercial approach. 
This is anticipated to lead to increased income in the region of £1 million 
and specific consultation on price increases will be delivered where 
appropriate.

 In respect of car parking the proposals include an increase in tariffs 
across the borough, likely to be in the region of 50p per hour. There are 
also proposals to introduce charges on some currently free car parks and 
parking areas for which consultation will be undertaken with relevant 
stakeholders.

 Small increases to the prices charged for the Invigor8 Leisure Centre 
membership, the pay and play prices within Leisure Centres, and garden 
waste collection service are proposed.

 Organisations on Wirral benefit from a number of Rate Reliefs. These 
include Small Businesses Rate Relief and a number of Mandatory Reliefs 
with the Council providing additional support. Options are to be presented 
to Cabinet on reducing the cost to Council Taxpayers by 50% with the 
relevant organisations having been given notice of this intention in 
2015/16.

THEME : SERVICE CHANGES

3.31 It is inevitable, given the scale of our financial reductions we will have to make 
some service changes. We believe we have done a great deal to mitigate the 
impact of this, and will continue to work with our partners to ensure any 
reductions are managed in a strategic, planned way to ensure we do not lose 
focus on our overall vision for the borough.

Page 87



3.32 Service Changes: Summary of the Proposals

SERVICE CHANGES 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Senior Management Reduction 0.50 - - - 0.50 
Voluntary Redundancy Programme 0.50 - - - 0.50 
Training Budgets 0.30 -0.30  -  - -   
Car Park Maintenance 0.10 -0.10 -  - -   
Constituency Committees 0.20 -0.20 -  - -   
Sub Total 1.60 -0.60 - - 1.00

3.33 Commentary on the proposals:-

 Further reductions in the running costs of the Council through reducing 
senior management by a further 10% and reductions in the workforce 
through the voluntary redundancy programme.

 Three proposals relate to one year reductions in spending within training 
for both Council Officers and Members to providing essential, statutory 
training, car park maintenance and the funding allocated to Constituency 
Committees. Constituency Committees are to be reviewed during the year 
and will retain unallocated funding from prior to 2017/18.

3.34 SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSALS FOR 2017/18 AND THE MTFS 2017/21

THEME 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Delivering Differently 5.4 7.7 7.2 19.9 40.2
Income and Resources 26.9 23.2 26.2 17.7 94.0
Service Changes 1.6 +0.6 - - 1.0
TOTAL PROPOSALS 33.9 30.3 33.4 37.6 135.2

3.35 BALANCING THE BUDGET

PROJECTIONS 17/18
£m

18/19
£m

19/20
£m

20/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Budget Gap 45.0 25.0 25.0 37.0 132.0
Total Proposals 33.9 30.3 33.4 37.6 135.2
Revised Gap 11.1 -5.3 -8.4 -0.6 -3.2
Use of Balances 11.1 4.8 - -

3.36 As can be seen from the tables above over the 4 year MTFS period the 
implementation and delivery of the proposals results in a projected ‘surplus’. 
However the timing of this presents a Budget Gap in 2017/18 and 2018/19 
which will require the use of balances in the region of £15.9 million.

Page 88



3.37 The figures are subject to change given the awaited Local Government 
Finance Settlement, announcements on Specific Government Grants and the 
determination of the Levies. The position will be updated and reported to 
Cabinet on 20 February 2017 when the outcomes of any appropriate 
consultation will also be considered. Whilst there are proposals for 
subsequent years the budgets for the later years will be reviewed and refined 
before being formally approved in advance of each year.

GENERAL FUND BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.38 The level of General Fund balances and reserves that the Council maintains 
is critical to its financial resilience. It is important balances and reserves 
maintained are sufficient to fund costs that occur be it from planned activities 
or unexpected events.  A review of reserves, provisions and General Fund 
balances is being undertaken as part of the process to set the 2017/18 
Budget.  This will take account of the financial risks anticipated to be faced in 
the coming period 2016/21 and known commitments and plans.  The outcome 
of the review will be reported to Cabinet on 20 February 2017 and will be 
based upon:-

RELEASE OF RESERVES £m COMMENT
Collection Fund 4.5 Position has to be formally declared 

by 22 January 2017.
Insurance Fund 2.5 Report to recommend release based 

on claims management.
Business Rates Reserve 8.5 Reserve for potential appeals which 

can be back-dated and ‘safety net’.
General reserves tbc Any additional sums identified to be 

added to General Balances.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND USE OF CAPITAL RECEIPTS

3.39 The Council has a planned 2016/19 Capital Programme and the 2017/18 
onwards Programme will be reported to Budget Cabinet. In preparing this the 
existing Programme will be revised with the re-profiling of schemes and the 
resources anticipated being available.  New schemes will be considered for 
inclusion in the Programme.  The revisions will also include the use of capital 
receipts to fund the Transformation Programme.

3.40 The capital receipts flexibility announced in the Autumn Statement 2015 and 
changed the rules regarding their use. From 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019 
the Council is able to spend any receipts generated from the sale of assets, 
excluding Housing Right-to-buy receipts, on expenditure that:

 Generates on-going revenue savings in the delivery of public services.
 Transforms services delivery to reduce costs.
 Transforms service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for 

services in future years for any of the Councils public sector delivery 
partners.

Page 89



The Government guidance includes the following examples:
 Sharing Services.
 Service Reform.
 Collaboration between Councils.
 Service reconfiguration, restructuring or rationalisation.
 Setting up Alternative Delivery Models.

3.41 The key criteria as to whether expenditure can be funded using capital 
receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings. It has also 
been specified that the flexibility only applies to set-up and implementation 
costs of any new process or arrangements. The Transformation Programme 
will incur expenditure of this nature in order to realise the savings that have 
been proposed.

3.42 To comply with Government guidance the Council must prepare and publish 
annually a flexible use of Capital Receipts Strategy. This should as a 
minimum list each project and detail the expected savings and services 
transformation anticipated to take place. The Strategy will form part of the 
Capital Programme to be submitted to Cabinet in February 2017 and include 
the impact on the Council prudential indicators. Full Council is required to 
annually approve the utilisation of capital receipts to support the 
Transformation Programme.

3.43 The establishment and publication of the Strategy will allow the Council to 
fund from capital receipts and preserve revenue resources. The Government 
guidelines state that it is for individual Councils to decide whether or not a 
project qualifies for the flexibility.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The financial implications are detailed in the report. The projected Budget Gap 
for the period 2017/21 has previously been reported as £132 million with £45 
million relating to 2017/18.

4.2 The savings proposals detailed in the report total £135 million if they are all 
accepted. The issue being the timing as the Budget Gap is front (and rear) 
loaded so will require the use of Balances and Reserves to produce a 
balanced Budget for 2017/18.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Council is required to agree a Budget for 2017/18 by 10 March 2017. As 
part of agreeing the Budget the Chief Financial Officer is required under 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 to produce a report on the 
robustness of the estimates made for the Council Budget.

Page 90



5.2 The duty of the Council is to avoid a budget shortfall which is not just an 
academic exercise in balancing the books. The Chief Financial Officer of a 
local authority has a personal duty under Local Government Finance Act 1988 
Section 114A to make a report to the Executive if it appears that the 
expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to 
incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums 
borrowed) available to meet that expenditure.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 Investment into IT continues in accord with the development and 
implementation of the Digital Strategy. In respect of assets the Council 
continues to review its estate, working with partners over the One Public 
Estate, in order to maximise both investment and rental income and the 
generation of capital receipts from the release of surplus assets. The 
proposals that include implications for staff form part of the engagement and 
consultation with Trade Unions and employees.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 The financial position for 2017/21 is based on forecast amounts which are 
outside of Council control such as Government funding and the levies from 
other bodies as well as reflecting changing demand for services. A key risk is 
that any of these assumptions can change which is increasingly the case 
when projections are made over the medium term. This is mitigated by 
keeping the MTFS under, at least, an annual review.

7.2 The scale of the financial challenge and the Council’s ambitious response to 
enable it to deliver the very best outcomes from increasingly limited resources 
inevitably carries risk. This report sets out a planned approach to the funding 
deficit and the risks that arise are from the considerable reductions in 
expenditure required. To mitigate the risks associated with the delivery of the 
transformation required this will be overseen by the Transformation Board. 
Funding for implementing the change exists from the Transformation Fund, 
reserves and capital receipts.

7.3 There is a risk that agreed changes will not be delivered. The progress on the 
delivery of the agreed Budget will be through the Financial Monitoring reports 
presented to Cabinet. The level of General Fund balances includes an 
element to reflect the risk associated with the delivery of the savings. In the 
medium term the delivery of the new homes is reliant upon developers being 
able and prepared to build the housing.

7.4 Over the period of the MTFS there are years where there is a projected 
funding gap which will be met from the use of balances. Whilst this approach 
can be adopted it does present a risk in that this action is only a temporary 
solution. This can be mitigated by the earlier delivery of the proposals 
emanating from the Transformation Programme.

Page 91



7.5 At this stage a number of the options in this report are subject to engagement 
/ consultation with residents and other stakeholders. The results of these 
consultations will be assessed by Cabinet as part of Budget decisions in 
February 2017.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1 Subject to Cabinet agreement, the Council will commence appropriate 
consultation on the proposals where required. These include those relating to 
car parking, leisure and cultural services and garden waste collection. This 
consultation will include working with people who use services, residents and 
stakeholders and a series of Overview & Scrutiny Committee Workshops. 
Proposals emerging through the Transformation Programme are likely to 
require extensive consultation and will be delivered, as appropriate, in the 
new year.

8.2 The Council will also work with staff and Trade Unions to ensure obligations in 
relation to statutory, staff consultation is delivered appropriately and within 
agreed guidelines.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is recognised that some of these proposals could have implications and 
these will be considered through the consultation process and be finalised for 
when the decisions are to be taken by Cabinet in February 2017.

REPORT AUTHOR: Tom Sault
Assistant Director: Finance (S151)
Telephone 0151 666 3407
Email tomsault@wirral.gov.uk

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Council
– Wirral Plan
Cabinet
– Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2016/17
Council
– Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2016/17

13 July 2015

22 February 2016

3 March 2016

Page 92

mailto:tomsault@wirral.gov.uk


COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET

8 DECEMBER 2016

COUNCIL TAX 2017/18

(TAXBASE, DISCOUNTS AND EXEMPTIONS

AND COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME)

Councillor Phil Davies, Leader said:

‘Ensuring the Council has enough income to provide the services residents rely upon 
whilst keeping Council Tax levels at a fair and affordable level is important. We 
continue to protect the most vulnerable in the line with our pledge in the Wirral Plan.

REPORT SUMMARY

This report brings together related issues regarding the proposed Council Tax Tax-
Base for 2017/18 upon which the annual billing and Council Tax levels will be set; 
the proposed Council Tax Discounts and exemptions for 2017/18 and the Council 
Tax Support Scheme to be used during 2017/18. All need to be approved by Council 
by 31 January 2017.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended to Council that:-

1 The figure of 91,309.5 be approved by Cabinet as the Council Tax-Base for 
2017/18.

2 The level and award of each local discount for 2017/18 be:-

Wirral Women’s & Children’s Aid

 To award the Refuge discount of 50% and the Flat’s Discount of 75%.

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



Empty Property Discounts

The discount and premium rate charges remain unchanged for 2017/18:-

Discount category D = 0% Full charge on properties undergoing renovations.

Discount category C = 0%. Full charge on empty properties from date they 
become unoccupied.

Empty Property Premium = 150%. Properties empty for more than two years

Council Tax Discretionary Relief Scheme

The Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Relief Scheme continues in its 
current format for 2017/18.

3. The Council Tax Support Scheme approved for use in 2016/17 is also 
approved as the Scheme for 2017/18.

Page 94



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1. The Council has to agree the Council Tax Base for 2017/18 by 31 January.

1.2. The Council has to decide on the level of Local Discounts by 31 January.

1.3 The Council has to determine annually the Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme by 31 January.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 In respect of the Council Tax-Base this has to be set by 31 January each year 
and there are no other options.

2.2. The Local Discounts, Exemptions and the Council Tax Support Scheme are 
reviewed annually and could be amended which will have a financial impact 
for the authority as set out in this report.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1. The Council has a statutory duty to take decisions each year with regard to 
the administration of Council Tax which must be agreed by Council by 31 
January.

COUNCIL TAX TAXBASE 2017/18

3.2 The Authority is required to annually determine its Council Tax-Base in order 
to determine the appropriate levels for Wirral, the Preceptor Authorities 
(Police & Crime Commissioner and Fire & Rescue Services) and the 
Environment Agency (Flood Defence). The Council Tax-Base has a direct 
impact on the Council Tax that will be levied for Wirral for 2017/18 and the 
level of Revenue Support Grant received from Central Government.

3.3 This decision could be a delegated function but is to be considered by Cabinet 
and Council for 2017/18. The Council Tax-Base must be agreed by 31 
January 2017 and will be used to calculate the Council Tax charges for 
2017/18.

3.4 The Tax-Base calculation process is as follows;

 Calculate the number of properties at October 2016 and adjust for changes 
due to demolitions and new builds up to 31 March 2018 which are then 
converted to a full year Band D equivalent. .Adjust for discounts, 
exemptions and disabled relief and add in any changes expected over the 
year reflecting the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and changes to 
empty discounts.

Page 95



 Convert the number of “discounted” dwellings in each Council Tax Band to 
Band D equivalent;

 Adjust the total number of Band D equivalents by the estimated Council 
Tax collection rate for the year. The amended calculation is as below and 
will be utilised in calculating the Council Tax charge for 2017/18.

3.5 Forecast properties per Council Tax band within Wirral as at October 2016:-

Table 1: Wirral Council Tax bandings Forecast October 2016
Band Value (£) Properties

2015
Change Properties

2016
Band

% 
Ratio

A <40,000 59,950 112 60,062 40.5 6/9
B 40,001-52,000 32,142 133 32,275 21.7 7/9
C 52,001-68,000 27,109 15 27,124 18.3 8/9
D 68,001-88,000 13,196 94 13,290 8.9 9/9
E 88,001-120,000 8,073 48 8,121 5.5 11/9
F 120,001-160,000 4,238 16 4,254 2.9 13/9
G 160,001-320,000 3,082 17 3,099 2.1 15/9
H >320,000 261 1 262 0.2 18/9
Total 148,051 436 148,487 100.0

3.6 The properties are then converted to the Band D equivalent and adjusted for 
the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and other Council Tax Discount, 
Exemptions and Disabled Relief and then adjusted by the Collection Rate to 
give the Council Tax-Base.

 Table 2: Wirral Council Tax Band D calculation 2017/18
Band Properties

2016
Changes due 
to C Tax 
Support,
discounts,
exemptions

Revised 
property 
equivalent

Ratio to 
Band D

Net Band D 
equivalen

t

A 60,062 -25,687.4 34,374.6 6/9 22,916.4
B 32,275 -7,543.0 24,732.0 7/9 19,236.0
C 27,124 -4,209.6 22,914.4 8/9 20,368.4
D 13,290 -1,492.4 11,797.6 9/9 11,797.6
E 8,121 -707.1 7,413.9 11/9 9,061.4
F 4,254 -321.1 3,932.9 13/9 5,680.9
G 3,099 -207.9 2,891.1 15/9 4,818.5
H 262 -33.1 228.9 18/9 457.8
Band A Disabled

(1/9th of Band A)
71.5 71.5 5/9 39.7

Total 148,487 40,130.1 108,356.9 94,376.7
Collection Rate x 96.75%
Adjusted Council Tax-Base 91,309.5

Page 96



3.7 The Collection Rate takes into consideration previous experience and current 
collection rates. Last year’s projections are so far proving accurate and it is 
recommended to continue with the Collection Rate of 96.75%. 

3.8 The Collection Rate is the rate that best reflects collection over more than just 
the current year and will therefore take longer than the financial year to 
achieve. All previous year collections have ultimately met or exceeded 
projections and this rate should be achieved for 2017/18 

3.9 The recommended figure for 2017/18 is 91,309.5. Compared to the 2016/17 
figure of 90,481.9 this is an increase of 827.6.

3.10 The level of Council Tax is confirmed at Budget Council which for 2017/18 is 
scheduled for 6 March 2017.

COUNCIL TAX LOCAL DISCOUNTS & EXEMPTIONS 2017/18

3.11 Local Discounts and Exemptions are subject to an annual review and impact 
directly upon the Council Tax income being fully met by the Council. From 1 
April 2013 the Council adopted 0% discount levels for empty properties and 
properties undergoing construction, where previously they had been exempt 
for 6 and 12 months respectively thus receiving a 100% discount. This report 
reviews these reduced discounts and increased charges and also the current 
levels of specific local discounts. Any amendment or granting of discount 
agreed as part of this report will come into force from 1 April 2017.

3.12. Local Discounts can be granted under Section 13a of the Local Government 
Act 1992. The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced changes in 
national Council Tax discounts and exemptions.  These were considered and 
adopted for 2013/14 by Cabinet on 24 January 2013 and cover the level of 
discount awarded on empty properties and the premium charged on long term 
empties. Wirral chose to maximise the amount payable in each category and 
must review its charges each year. These have remained unchanged since 
2013/14.

A LOCAL DISCOUNTS - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1992

3.13 Local Discounts, as used by Wirral, are granted under Section 13a of the 
Local Government Act 1992 and reviewed annually.

Table 3: Local Government Act 1992 Local Discounts in Wirral

£
Wirral Women & Children’s Aid 3,632
Council Tax Discretionary Relief  (Hardship) 50,000
Total 53,632

Page 97



Wirral Women & Children’s Aid

3.14 Cabinet on 22 July 2004 awarded a local discount to Wirral Women’s and 
Children’s Aid. The discount has been confirmed annually to date at 50% for 
the refuge and 75% for both flats, leaving no Council Tax to pay, on the basis 
of the valuable work undertaken at the premises. The circumstances have 
remained unaltered and the cost of the award is currently £3,632. A decision 
is required as to whether this discount continues for 2017/18.

Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Relief

3.15 Regulations allow that a discount can be granted to an individual in case of 
extreme hardship and that is covered by the Council’s Council Tax 
Discretionary Relief policy (minute 71, 10 October 2013) or a discount can be 
granted to all empty properties within a specific area, such as a clearance 
area. This can give more flexibility to the Council which has to fund any locally 
defined discounts. A decision is required as to whether Council Tax 
Discretionary Hardship Relief continues in its current format for 2017/18.

B DISCOUNTS & EXEMPTIONS - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2012

3.16 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced changes in national 
Council Tax discounts and exemptions which gave local authorities local 
discretion as to levels of discounts. These were considered and adopted by 
Cabinet on 24 January 2013 (minute 166) for the 2013/14 financial year and 
have continued in subsequent years. Wirral chose to maximise the charges it 
raises by minimising the discount awarded, i.e. 0%.

Table 4: Local Government Act 2012 Empty Property Discounts

Income from minimising discounts £
Empty properties –unoccupied/renovation (Discount C+D) = 0% 2,610,130
Empty property – premium of 150% 603.630
Total 3,213,760

Empty Properties Discount

3.17 The changes allowed by the 2012 Act covered charges made against empty 
property and second homes. In broad terms this removed the exempt 
classifications A and C and allowed Councils to define their own level of 
discounts re-categorising them as discounts C and D. The Regulations also 
allowed Councils to apply a premium on properties that had been empty for 
more than two years with the maximum premium being 50% on top of the 
100% Council Tax already levied. 

Page 98



3.18 Council chose to award 0% discount (Discount D) – full charge - on properties 
undergoing renovations (Exemption A) which were previously entitled to a 12 
month exemption, or 100% discount. The major impact other than increased 
charges, based upon this change is that as there is no incentive to inform the 
Council Tax section that a property is undergoing major repairs.

3.19 Council chose to similarly award a 0% discount (Discount C) – full charge - on 
empty properties that had previously been exempt for the first six months that 
they were empty, or 100% discount. This has received the most negative 
comments in our contacts. Disputes have increased between tenants and 
landlords as to the date a tenant left the property. Previously as there was a 
six month exemption neither party was immediately liable as Council Tax was 
not payable and the majority were able to be adequately resolved. The charge 
is levied now from day one and disputes often occur which have to be 
resolved by Council Tax staff.  This maximisation of charge is anticipated to 
raise an additional £2,610,130 in Council Tax during 2017/18.

3.20 A further issue for landlords is that this immediate charge does not give any 
opportunity to “turn a property around” for a new tenant to take over without 
incurring a Council Tax liability. Landlord representative’s state they are 
denied rental income whilst readying a property for a new tenant but are 
charged full Council Tax in that time. If the Council were to grant a 100% 
discount for the first month that a property became empty this would clearly 
alleviate some of the problems mentioned. However if this proposal from 
landlords was implemented then this would cost an estimated £400,000 in lost 
Council Tax income.

3.21 The Council similarly resolved to charge the maximum amount of Premium on 
properties that had been empty for more than two years which is 150%. The 
aim of this was to encourage prompt property re-occupation and discourage 
properties being held empty by speculators waiting for an increase in values. 
To remove the Premium would cost £603,630 in lost Council Tax income if 
property eligibility levels in 2017/18 are the same as in the previous year.

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

3.22 In April 2013 the Government replaced the national Council Tax Benefits 
Scheme with a localised scheme of support which would be set and 
administered by each Council to support people on low income. Certain 
national parameters remain such as previous levels of support must continue 
for pensioners and vulnerable people as defined by each Council. Wirral’s 
Council Tax Support Scheme is largely based on the previous Council Tax 
Benefit Scheme. The Scheme must be approved by each 31 January prior to 
the year it will be applied.

Page 99



3.23 Central Government abolished Council Tax Benefit (CTB) on 31 March 2013 
and tasked each administering Council to formulate an individual Local 
Scheme to replace it. At the same time Central Government reduced the grant 
they awarded to Councils for CTB by 10%. The Government also stated that 
any local Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) devised should leave 
pensioners no worse off than they were under the 2012/13 CTB scheme. The 
option was also given to define vulnerable groups and offer the groups the 
same level of protection as pensioners. Wirral designated persons classed as 
disabled or with disabled children as vulnerable in 2013/14.

3.24 At 31 October 2016 there were 33,970 Council Tax Support claimants in 
receipt of Council Tax Support totalling £26.7 million.

Table 5: Council Tax Support Scheme claimants at 31 October 2015

By category Numbers % of total
Pensioners 14,099 41%
Vulnerable Groups 9,741 29%
Working Age 10,130 30%
Totals 33,970 100%

3.25 Having regard to the financial pressures Council resolved, on 28 January 
2013, that it could not find funding from its existing budgets to make up the 
shortfall caused by the governments changes and decided to pass on the 
reduction to Council Tax Support recipients that resulted in non-vulnerable 
working age claimants paying a minimum of 22% of the Council Tax charge. 
This decision was supported by both the Council’s “What Really Matters” 
consultation scheme and the separate consultation scheme on the Council 
Tax Support Scheme.

3.26 The response to the Council Tax Support (CTS) Scheme has seen a 
minimum number of appeals against the decisions that Council officers have 
had to make.

3.27 Council Tax payment levels of CTS recipients were anticipated to be lower 
than the main level, projecting a 66% collection rate on these specific sums. 
Thus far actual is in line with projections. 

3.28 The current scheme has been reviewed by officers and consideration has 
been given to include or exclude different income types on a full or partial 
basis, cap the level of Council Tax Support Scheme to a particular Band, 
residency timescales, deduction levels for additional occupiers, capital limits, 
taper levels and changes to vulnerable groups. This list is not exhaustive but 
indicative of the areas reviewed. After 4 years of the scheme it is felt no 
substantive eligibility criteria should be altered and these be retained for the 
5th year 2017/18. We will again look to see how the increasing impact of 
Universal Credit is reflected in the scheme for the following year. 

Page 100



3.29 While the impact on individuals undoubtedly has been considerable the local 
elements or variances within the scheme were not disproportionate in their 
effect. The retention of the vulnerable group and qualifying criteria are as fair 
and equitable as could be put forward balancing this against the financial 
impacts that face the authority. 

3.30 Wirral’s Council Tax Support Scheme is largely based on the previous 
national Council Tax Benefit scheme and its calculations mirror Housing 
Benefits to build up an entitlement for support. These include applicable 
amounts, premiums, disregards and non-dependant deductions. The Scheme, 
its impacts and costs are continually monitored and need to annually reviewed 
and approved by the 31 January prior to the year it will be applied.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1. The Council Tax Tax-Base is used to calculate Council Tax levels for 
2017/18. Failure to comply with timescales could delay Council Tax bills with 
the potential to affect collection and cash-flow.  On the assumption that the 
levels of support under the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and the 
Discounts and Exemptions remain unchanged from existing arrangements the 
increase in the Council Tax-Base from 2016/17 to 2017/18 will result in 
increased Council Tax income of approximately £1.3 million in 2017/18. 
Wirral’s share of the precept after the non-collection allowance is applied will 
be £1.1 million. 

4.2. For Local Discounts variations to the discount levels will either generate 
additional or less income.  The cost of local discounts are met in full by the 
Council and do not impact upon the Council Tax-Base.  Any saving to the 
Council will result in an increase in the amount payable by the charge payer.

Table 6: Local Government Act 1992 Local Discounts
£

Wirral Women & Children’s Aid 3,632
Council Tax Discretionary Relief  (Hardship) 50,000
Total 53,632

Table 7: Local Government Act 2012 Empty Property Discounts
Income from minimising discounts £
Empty properties –unoccupied/renovation (Discount C+D) = 0% 2,610,130
Empty property – premium of 150% 603.630
Total 3,213,760

4.3. For 2017/18 the Council Tax Support Scheme will be retained. The estimated 
value of the support provided will be £26.7 million based on the current 
number of claimants.

Page 101



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1. The legislation requiring this calculation is the Local Authorities (Calculation of 
Council Tax-Base) Regulations 1992.  This requires the Authority to declare, 
by means of Council resolution, the Tax-Base it will use to calculate the tax 
level and this resolution must be no later than 31 January in the year 
preceding the tax.

5.2. This decision, could be delegated under Section 84 of the Local Government 
Act 2003, amended Section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
such that a full Council meeting is no longer required to adopt the Council Tax 
Base.  The Council could then delegate the Tax Base determination function 
in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.

5.3. Publication of the Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions and the Council Tax 
Support Scheme for 2017/178 is required by 31 January 2017.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1. There are no IT, asset or specific staffing implications arising directly from this 
report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1. If the Council Tax Tax-Base figure is not declared by 31 January 2017 the 
Council and Preceptor Authorities will be unable to make considered 
budgetary decisions that could delay the Council Tax bills and income 
streams for 2017/18.

7.2. In respect of Local Discounts and Exemptions the changes made to domestic 
empty property charges raised anticipated collection by in excess of £3 
million. Given the nature of the charges, the policy whilst raising additional 
revenue is likely to reduce the overall average collection rate. On a simple 
comparison of collection rates without the context, this would make Wirral look 
less effective at collection than those authorities offering more generous 
discounts and applying no empty property premiums. Any changes to the 
current level of discounts or reduction to the empty premium would see a 
reduction in Council Tax raised and the income lost would have to be replaced 
by an alternative income stream.

7.3. That the Council Tax Support Scheme will give a reduced level of support to 
people and increases their risk of further financial hardship.  For the Council 
this Scheme has the capacity to be a growth item and impact on its overall 
budgetary position because if the decision is taken to raise the amount of 
support given then the cost of the Scheme rises.

Page 102



8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1. No consultation is required in the calculation of the Tax-Base. The Discount 
and Exemptions are proposed to be maintained at the previous year’s level 
and no direct consultation has been undertaken on discount levels. The level 
of changes for discounts and exemptions were consulted upon in 2012/13 and 
no specific consultation has been undertaken as they are not proposed to be 
changed. The Council Tax Support Scheme similarly stays unaltered in its 
Scheme rules and as such this does not require formal consultation as was 
undertaken prior to its introduction.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1. The link to the Equality Impact Assessments for the Discount and Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0

REPORT AUTHOR: Neil Powell
Income and Debt Manager
Telephone (0151 666 3505)
Email neilpowell@wirral.gov.uk

REFERENCE MATERIAL

Department for Communities and Local Government; - Council Tax (CTB1) form and 
accompanying documentation.
Local Government Finance Act 1992, 2003 and 2012.
Valuation Office Agency - Valuation List.
Welfare Reform Act 2012.
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012.

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet 

28 January 2014
9 December 2014

17 December 2015

Page 103

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0
mailto:neilpowell@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES

CABINET
8 DECEMBER 2016

Budget Council Agenda and Procedure –
6 March 2017

Councillor Phil Davies, Leader of the Council, said:

‘’The Agenda and Procedure proposed in this report has been discussed with 
all three Political Group Leaders and enables the requisite arrangements to be 
put in place for Council to effectively debate and agree its Budget for 2017/18 
financial year.’’

REPORT SUMMARY

This report proposes that Cabinet recommends to Council the Agenda and 
Procedure for Budget Council (6 March 2017) set out at Appendix 1 be approved.

RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet agrees that:

a) the Agenda and Procedure for Budget Council to be held on 6 March 2017 set 
out at Appendix 1 to this report be recommended to Council for approval; and

b) Council be recommended to agree that the Assistant Director: Law and 
Governance be authorised to make changes to the Agenda and/or Procedure 
for Budget Council set out at Appendix 1 providing the consent of all the three 
Political Group Leaders has been obtained.

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 Cabinet is required to recommend a Budget to Council on 6 March 2017 
(“Budget Council”). The issues detailed in this report support the 
recommendations which all contribute to enabling Cabinet to be in a position 
to recommend a Budget proposal to Budget Council.

1.2 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, requires the Chief Finance 
Officer to report on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of 
the Council’s Budget calculations and the adequacy of the General Fund 
Balances and Reserves.

1.3 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 requires that a recorded vote, detailing the names of all 
Councillors voting and how they voted, be taken in respect of all votes 
involved in setting the Budget and Council Tax levels.

1.4 The Police & Crime Commissioner for Merseyside and the Merseyside Fire 
& Rescue Service issue a precept on the Council to be paid through the 
Council Tax.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
2.1 No other options were considered given that all three Political Group Leaders 

were consulted in relation to the proposed Council Budget Procedure.

3.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
3.1 Standing Order 13 provides that the Head of Legal & Member Services: 

“shall, prior to the Budget meeting of the Council, consult with the Leaders 
of each political group and submit to the Cabinet and Council a suggested 
procedure to be adopted at the budget meeting, but if no such procedure is 
adopted the normal procedures of the Council in relation to amendments to 
Cabinet recommendations will apply”. 

4.0 Proposed Budget Council Agenda and Procedure

4.1 The Budget meeting of the Council is scheduled to take place on Monday, 6 
March 2017. 

4.2 The Agenda and Procedure for the Budget meeting of the Council is set at 
Appendix 1 to this report and has been prepared following consultation with all 
the three Political Group Leaders. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Council is required to set its Budget for the 2017/18 financial year by 10 
March 2017. 

Page 106



3

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
6.1 The legal implications are set out in the main body of the report.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS 

7.1 There are no such issues directly arising from this report.

8.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
8.1 The Council is under a legal obligation to set a lawful budget. The proposed 

Budget Council Agenda and Procedure seeks to facilitate and assist the 
Council in this regard. 

9.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
9.1 All three Political Group Leaders were consulted in relation to the proposed 

Budget Council Procedure.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

No such implications arise.

REPORT AUTHOR: Surjit Tour
Assistant Director: Law and Governance
telephone (0151) 691 8569
email surjittour@wirral.gov.uk 

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - Budget Council Procedure

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL
None

Page 107

mailto:surjittour@wirral.gov.uk


4

APPENDIX 1

BUDGET COUNCIL
AGENDA and PROCEDURE

COUNCIL
Monday, 6 March 2017

1. Apologises for absence

2. Declarations of Interest / Restrictions on voting

3. Mayor’s Announcements

4. Approval of Minutes

5. Petitions (pursuant to Standing Order 5(2)(d) Council Procedure Rules)
However, if a petition relates to the setting of the Budget, the member who presents it 
should be given the opportunity during the main debate to speak to it, in order that the 
Council can take account of it in that context.

6. Suspension of Standing Orders of the Council’s Constitution

(i) Standing Order 12(1)relates to ‘Motions and Amendments’ and provides 
that:

“A motion or amendment shall relate to a recommendation of a 
committee submitted in accordance with Standing Order 5.2(i), or to a 
matter referred to in Standing Orders 7 and 8. It shall not be discussed 
unless it has been proposed and seconded.

The terms of any amendment or notice of motion shall not be varied 
except with the agreement of the Council.”

(ii) Standing Order 12(9) relates to ‘Amendments’ and provides that:

“Subject to Standing Order 7(5) an amendment to a motion or 
recommendation of the Cabinet or of a Committee shall be relevant to 
the motion or recommendation under consideration and shall be either

(a) to refer or refer back a subject of debate for consideration or 
reconsideration as the case may be;

(b) to leave out words;
(c) to leave out words and insert or add others;
(d) to insert or add words.

Page 108



5

as long as the effect of any amendment is not to negate the motion or 
recommendation.”

(iii) Standing Order 12(10) relates to ‘Amendments to be dealt with in order’ 
and provides that:

“Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time”.

For the purposes of the Budget Debate, Council is requested to suspend:

(a) Standing Orders 12(1) insofar as it relates to amendments;
(b) Standing Order 12(9); and 
(c) Standing Order 12(10). 

7. Council Budget 

The Budget Debate will only consider:

(i) the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minutes, which shall 
include any additional paragraphs/ recommendations (e.g. those 
relating to precepts), together with any other 
recommendation(s)/minute(s) from the Cabinet meeting to be held 
on 20 February 2017 (and/or any other relevant Cabinet meeting) 
that require approval by the Council; and

(ii) any Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment(s) to the 
Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minutes referred to at (i) above 
duly lodged with the Assistant Director: Law and Governance on or 
before 12noon on Wednesday, 1 March 2017.

(iii) Budget Debate shall be conducted in accordance with the Budget 
Debate Process set out at Annex 1 to this Appendix.

8. Appointments

Council shall consider any recommendations referred for appointment, approval 
and/or designation (as appropriate). 

9. Vacancies

Council shall consider any appointments to be approved or any changes 
proposed to existing appointments. 

10. Any Urgent Business

Council to consider any urgent business approved by the Mayor

Page 109



6

ANNEX 1

Budget Debate Process

1. Cabinet Minute

a. The Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minute(s) referred to at 
7(i) of the Budget Council Procedure is formally moved by the 
Leader of the Council.

b. The Cabinet’s Budget Recommendations/Minute(s) is formally 
seconded.

2. Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendments

a. The Mayor will advise Council that Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendments (submitted in accordance with 7(ii) 
of the Budget Council, Procedure) are to be proposed by both 
the other two Political Group Leaders and the Green Party 
Member (if applicable).

First Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment

b. The Mayor will invite the Group Leader of the largest opposition 
political group to first propose his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) 
or Amendment.

c. The Group Leader of the largest opposition political group 
formally moves his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or 
Amendment.

d. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.

Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

e. The Mayor will invite the Group Leader of the other opposition 
political group to propose his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or 
Amendment.

f. The Group Leader of the other opposition political group formally 
moves his Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment.

g. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.

Page 110



7

Third Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment
(If applicable)

h. The Mayor will invite the Green Party Member to propose his 
Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment.

i. The Green Party Member formally moves his Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendment.

j. The Alternative Budget Proposal(s) or Amendment is formally 
seconded.

In the event that there is no seconder, the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s) or Amendment(s) shall not be debated or voted upon.

3. Debating and Voting 

The moved and seconded Cabinet’s Minute and Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendments shall be debated together (in accordance with 
the Rules of Debate set out below) and a vote then taken on each of them 
in turn.

Order of Speakers

a. The Leader of the Council will speak to the Cabinet Budget 
Recommendations/Minute(s) (15 Minutes).

b. The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services will speak to the 
Schools’ Budget element of the Cabinet Budget 
Recommendations/Minute(s). (7 Minutes).

c. The Group Leader of the largest opposition political group will 
speak to the First Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment 
(15 Minutes). 

d. The Group Leader of the other opposition political group will 
speak to the Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment 
(15 Minutes).

e. If applicable, the Green Party Member will speak to the Third 
Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment (5 Minutes).

f. Other members wishing to speak shall indicate to the Mayor, 
who will call them to speak in the order determined by the Mayor 
(Each Member - 3 Minutes).

g. The budget debate shall end with the Seconders, unless they 
have spoken earlier. (Each Seconder - 7 Minutes save for the 
Seconder of the Green Party Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment who shall have 3 Minutes).

Page 111



8

Right of Reply

h. If applicable, the Proposer of the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (3 Minutes).

i. The Proposer of the Second Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

j. The Proposer of the First Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

k. The Leader of the Council will be invited to exercise his right of 
reply. (5 Minutes).

Speakers
Speakers will be allocated the following time: 

The Leader of the Council speaking to the Cabinet’s Budget 
Recommendation(s)/Minute(s)

15 minutes

The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services (speaking on the 
Schools’ Budget element)

7 minutes

The Group Leaders of the opposition political groups  Green party 
Member (if applicable) speaking to their respective Alternative 
Budget Proposal(s)/ Amendment

15 minutes

Green Party Member speaking to their respective Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/ Amendment (if applicable)

5 minutes

Other speakers 3 minutes

Seconder of the Third Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment (if 
applicable)

3 minutes

Seconder of First and Second Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment 

7 minutes 

The Seconder of the Cabinet Budget Recommendation(s)/Minutes(s) 7 minutes 

Green Party Member (if applicable) – right of reply 3 minutes

The Group Leaders of the opposition political groups – right of reply 5 minutes 

The Leader of the Council – right of reply 5 minutes 

(For the avoidance of any doubt the times mentioned in the table above shall not affect the 
Mayor’s discretion to permit a speaker to speak beyond the allotted time). 

Page 112



9

4. Voting

The order of voting shall be as follows (and subject to 4(d)(ii) below):

a. If applicable, Third Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/ Amendment

A vote will be taken on the Third Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

b. Second Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

A vote will be taken on the Second Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

c. First Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendment

A vote will be taken on the First Alternative Budget 
Proposal(s)/Amendment.

d. Cabinet Recommendation(s)/Minute(s)

(i) If all the Alternative Budget Proposal(s)/Amendments to the 
Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) fall, a vote 
will be taken on the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/ 
Minute(s).

(ii)_ If the Cabinet’s Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) are 
amended or an Alternative Budget Proposal(s) carried 
pursuant to 4a–c above, that decision will be regarded as an 
in-principle decision, and the Budget meeting of the Council 
shall be adjourned to 6:15pm on Thursday, 9 March 2017 
unless the Leader of the Council confirms to Council that he 
does not intend to challenge the in-principle decision, in 
which case it shall become effective. 

In the event that the meeting is adjourned, the Council will 
reconsider its decision having regard to the Leader of the 
Council’s written submission which must be submitted to the 
Assistant Director: Law and Governance by 4.00pm on 
Wednesday, 8 March 2016.  

At that the adjourned meeting, the Council can:

(i) accept the Cabinet Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s) 
(without amendment); or

Page 113



10

(ii) re-affirm its approval of the in-principle decision made on 
Monday, 6 March 2017, upon the occurrence of which it 
will shall become effective; or 

(iii) approve a different decision that does not accord with 
the Cabinet Budget Recommendation(s)/Minute(s).

NOTE: The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 requires a recorded vote (i.e. names of all councillors voting 
and how they voted) to be taken in respect of all votes.

 

Page 114



CABINET
8 DECEMBER 2016

WIRRAL PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE: 
2016/17 QUARTER 2

Councillor Ann McLachlan, Cabinet Member - Transformation, Leisure and 
Culture (and Joint Deputy Leader of the Labour Group), said: 

‘The Wirral Plan was created to change people’s lives for the better: the 20 Pledges are 
our contract with the people of Wirral, and we will deliver as promised. Combined, they 
will have a huge impact, improving the quality of life every one of our residents can 
enjoy. 

‘We are now well into the delivery phase of our Plan, and we are seeing some real 
results – concrete evidence which demonstrates the impact we are having all across the 
borough. We are also clear about where our challenges still exist. 

‘We promised Wirral residents we would be open and honest with them about our 
progress and this report is an important part of this process.’

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides a progress update on the ongoing delivery of the Wirral Plan and 
20 Pledges. It focuses on key activities and successes in Quarter 2 (July to September 
2016) and the progress which has been made. 

This report affects all wards within the borough. It is not a key decision. 

RECOMMENDATION/S

Cabinet is requested to note the contents of this report. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 13



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To ensure Cabinet has the opportunity to review progress towards achieving the 
Wirral Plan. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Wirral Plan was agreed at Council in July 2015, creating a long-term vision 
for the borough alongside 20 Pledges which would be delivered by 2020. This 
report provides Cabinet with an update on the progress towards those pledges 
and therefore no other options were considered. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 This report provides a summary update of progress in delivering the Wirral Plan. 
Performance of the Wirral Plan is monitored by the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and the Wirral Plan Partnership Delivery Group. 

3.2 A Wirral Plan Performance Management Framework has been developed to 
ensure robust monitoring arrangements are in place. Information available to 
these groups each quarter include a Wirral Plan Overview Report and detailed 
reports associated with each Pledge are available for review. 

Performance Highlights – Quarter Two

Delivery of the Wirral Plan is driven by all partners working with residents to make a 
difference. The points highlighted below provide some examples of where work towards 
the 20 Pledges is driving improvements in the lives of Wirral residents. 

This list is not exhaustive, nor does it cover all 20 Pledges. More substantial 
performance data and key information related to the 20 Pledges is reported through the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Performance Highlights: Business

 Strong economic performance continues in Wirral, with the number of jobs 
created continuing to be above target and the overall employment rate has 
increased by 2.3% since the last comparable period in 2015. The innovative 
‘Wirral Ways to Work’ Programme has also supported more than 200 residents 
since July, seeking to help them find employment and training opportunities. 

 The Wirral Waters Investment Fund is now fully up and running, and will help kick 
start projects within the Enterprise Zone to deliver jobs and investment.  It is 
anticipated the Fund will receive its first applications in the next quarter.  

 The condition of the Borough’s A, B and C roads have returned to an excellent 
position with targets for 2016/17 being exceeded.  This means Wirral has some 
of the best roads when compared to all other councils in England.

 During quarter 2 the Wirral Property Board (One Public Estate Group) has been 
established.  This group creates input from a wide range of public sector 

Page 116



agencies and an increased focus on asset strategy within the wider Wirral 
partnership to enable the delivery of value for money for our residents.

Performance Highlights: People

 A pilot approach to identify socially isolated older people has been completed in 
Eastham.  The event was led by Age UK Wirral and resulted in 76 people being 
referred to services across the Wirral Partnership to receive the help and support 
they need. 

 The take up of the 2 year old offer has improved from 72.2% at quarter one to 
74.1%. There is a continuing challenge to ensure all eligible children take up their 
education places.  The underlying data tells us Birkenhead has the highest 
number of eligible children but has the lowest percentage take up.  A new 
approach to tackle this is being developed and will be rolled out over the 
remainder of the reporting period.

 All measures in relation to the people with disabilities live independent lives 
pledge are showing strong performance.  Employment data for people with 
disabilities has significantly exceeded the target. 

 In line with our strategy to address under-reporting and reduce incidents of 
repeat domestic abuse, the number of referrals continues to increase in quarter 2 
and repeat victimisation has reduced.  There remains a challenge to address the 
perceived under-reporting in households with children. The Tomorrow's Women 
Wirral Peer Mentor Project has proved to be a highly effective community-based 
support programme for survivors of domestic abuse. It has resulted in peer 
mentors being trained up to champion domestic abuse support in order that more 
victims have the confidence to come forward.

Performance Highlights – Environment

 September saw a number of successful events across Wirral, such as the 
Festival of Transport in Birkenhead Park and the Wirral Golf Classic held in 
Hoylake.  As well as fulfilling the objectives of our leisure and culture strategies, 
these events have also contributed to Wirral’s visitor economy.

 The latest data on smoking in Wirral shows a mixed picture with smoking 
prevalence showing an increase, but with smoking levels in pregnancy showing a 
significant decrease.  Of the 440 people supported through our stop smoking 
service between April and June, 224 were not smoking after 4 weeks of their 
involvement in the programme. A Smokefree Strategy is being developed with 
partners to develop an integrated approach to reduce smoking levels.

 Latest housing figures show the continuation of strong performance.  At Quarter 
2 there had been 759 homeless preventions against a target of 624, up 27% up 
on the same time last year.  We have delivered 1,529 home adaptations to 
support people to live independently and this is up 11% on last year.  We have 
also exceeded target bringing 446 empty properties back into use against a 
Quarter 2 target of 409.

 We continue to see strong performance in littering enforcement.  Over 5,700 
fixed penalty notices have been issued for littering offences with over 1,900 

Page 117



prosecutions being referred to the courts, out of these 1,398 were successful in 
bringing about a conviction.  Dog fouling enforcement performance has also 
increased significantly from last year.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are none arising from this report. 

5.0 LEGAL

5.1 There are none arising from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION

8.1 The priorities in the Wirral Plan and underlying pledges were informed by a range 
of consultations carried out in 2015 and 2016 including the Wirral resident 
survey. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Wirral Plan equality impact assessment can be found at: 

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief

REPORT AUTHOR: Kevin MacCallum
Head of Communications
kevinmacallum@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
REFERENCE MATERIAL
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Cabinet 5 September 2016

Page 118

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief


1

CABINET
8 DECEMBER 2016

 SALE OF SITE OF THE FORMER ACRE LANE 
PROFESSIONAL EXCELLENCE CENTRE

Councillor George Davies, Cabinet Member – Housing and Community Safety and 
Deputy Leader of the Council, said:

‘The sale of the Acre Lane site demonstrates our commitment to the Wirral Plan. 
Rather than an under-used, expensive council office building, the Acre Lane site will 
now soon contain new, high-quality homes for Wirral residents.

“This supports our Pledge to deliver more housing, and it supports the council’s 
financial position through generating significant income from the sale of the site.’

REPORT SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the terms for disposal of the site of the 
former Acre Lane Professional Excellence Centre, Eastham.

As part of the Council’s five year plan, the proposals in the report support the following 
pledges contained in the plan:

- Council making better use of its assets.
- To build 3,500 new homes

The sale of this asset affects the Eastham Ward.

The report is a key decision due to the financial implications.

Details of the minimum offer are appended. This appendix is exempt from publication 
under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 due to the commercial sensitivities 
of that information.

Page 119

Agenda Item 14



2

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. That the terms of the sale as set out in the report be noted.

2. That Cabinet authorises officers to accept a guaranteed minimum figure or any other 
higher figure achieved through negotiation with the developer to reach the final figure 
depending on the affordable homes outcome.

3. That it be noted that as part of the Wirral Plan the proposal in this report supports the 
pledges to ensure the Council makes better use of its assets and to meet the 
Council’s target of 3,500 new homes.

Page 120



3

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To enable the sale of the Council’s interest to proceed.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The proposed disposal follows the instruction of Cabinet and so no other options 
have been considered at this stage.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Cabinet at its meeting of 7 November 2013 declared the Acre Lane Professional 
Excellence Centre a surplus asset and resolved that the property should be sold in 
accordance with section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972.  Since then, all 
activities at the centre were relocated to alternative Council buildings and, once 
vacant, the building was demolished earlier this year.  

3.2 Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH), the Council’s appointed property consultants, has 
marketed the site on the Council’s behalf.  The marketing exercise resulted initially in 
7 bids from housing developers. LSH compared these bids on a ‘green field’ basis, 
which assumes that the site is fully developable and that no special conditions or 
abnormal ground conditions exist and allows all bids to be evaluated on the same 
basis. An exclusivity agreement was entered into which enabled them to undertake 
further investigations and arrive at a net figure for the land.

 
3.3 Morris Homes has finished its investigations and has provided a final net offer. The 

offer is based on a scheme of 219 residential units (this may vary for the purposes of 
the sale contract) and reflects deductions for abnormal costs associated with matters 
such as ground conditions, sewerage capacity and loss of developable area.  These 
deductions have been assessed by LSH with the assistance of an appointed Quantity 
Surveyor and are considered to be reasonable.  

3.4 In order to meet the requirements of S123 of the Local government act 1972 the net 
sale price offered is considered to be the best price obtainable through the 
negotiations.  The offer is based on Morris Homes entering a contract to purchase 
the site, which is conditional on them securing full planning permission. The disposal 
will only complete once planning consent has been secured.

3.5 As part of the Planning Process Morris Homes will need to agree an affordable 
housing provision on the site to meet the Council’s policy.  The affordable housing 
requirement can be delivered in a number of ways which may include the sale of a 
number of properties at a discounted price, or a sale to a Registered Provider also at 
a discounted rate.  Both scenarios will have an impact on the value of the scheme 
and the conditional contract for the sale will need to permit the sale price to be varied 
to reflect the impact of affordable housing.  Morris Homes has submitted a proposal 
for affordable housing, however, this will only be determined with the planning 
application.

Page 121



4

 3.6 Whilst the impact of affordable housing is yet to be determined, Morris Homes has 
confirmed a minimum sale price.  The sale contract will provide that the final sale 
price cannot drop below this guaranteed minimum figure and would allow further 
discussions between the Council and Morris Homes before proceeding.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The disposal will generate a capital receipt as described and, once the site is 
developed it will also generate further income from Council Tax which, based on 219 
units at Band ‘C’ would generate £259,000 per year, once the Development is 
completed.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1    The transactions will require the preparation of appropriate legal documentation.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There is no IT or staffing implications arising from this report.  Asset implications are 
identified within the main body of this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Should the offer fall below the minimum confirmed amount either party will be able to 
withdraw from the contract, at which the site will be re-marketed.

7.2 There is no contractual requirement for Morris Homes to build the homes however, 
given their commitment it seems unlikely that the scheme will not proceed.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Lambert Smith Hampton has undertaken discussions with the developers.  
Consultation with residents will be undertaken as part of the planning process.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 No as there are no implications for equal opportunities arising from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven McMorran
Manager – Assets and Surveying
telephone:  (0151) 666 3891
email:   stevemcmorran@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Location Plan

REFERENCE MATERIAL
No reference material has been used in the preparation of this report.

Page 122



5

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Cabinet “Asset Management Disposals” 7 November 2013

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance
Survey 100019803

Scale 1/2500

Date 17/9/2015

Acre Lane, Bromborough

Centre = 334623 E 381377 N

Dept:

Section:

Phone:

Fax:

You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or sell any of this
data to third parties in any form.

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

8 DECEMBER 2016

CHANGES TO THEGOVERNANCE 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR LEASOWE 

COMMUNITY HOMES

Councillor George Davies, Cabinet Member - Housing and Community Safety (and 
Deputy Leader of the Council), said:

‘It is important housing providers in the borough operate within high standards of 
governance. This report provides the Cabinet and the Council with important information 
on changes to the Governance Arrangements for Leasowe Community Homes.’

REPORT SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise that the Council, as a Company Member of 
Leasowe Community Homes (LCH) will be required to vote on proposals for LCH to 
move to a Board that is selected on the basis of skills rather than by constituency 
nominations and for the company to leave Your Housing Group(YHG) of which it is 
currently a subsidiary and to become a subsidiary of Pierhead Housing 
Association(PHA).

1.2 Leasowe Community Homes Board(LCH Board) has agreed to move to a Board 
recruited for the skills and experience necessary to enable the organisation to move 
into more diverse and commercial areas of business and demonstrate it meets the 
standard required by the Regulator, the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) for 
the current   business in the new operating environment.

1.3 YHG and the LCH Board are satisfied that the substitution of PHA for YHG is in the 
interests of LCH’s tenants and of all three organisations.

RECOMMENDATION/S

It is recommended that the Cabinet and full Council;

1) Agree that Leasowe Community Homes becomes a subsidiary of 

Page 127

Agenda Item 15



Pierhead Housing Association and enters into an Intragroup Agreement 
with Pierhead Housing Association in the terms set out in the Appendix 
4.

2) Agree that Leasowe Community Homes moves to a Board of Directors 
that is selected on the basis of skills rather than by constituency 
nominations.

3) Agree to the removal of Your Housing Group from the constitution of 
Leasowe Community Homes.

4) Agree that Leasowe Community Homes Memorandum and Articles of 
Association be revised to reflect the changes and the Minority Protection 
Agreement be replaced by the Intragroup Agreement.

5) Authorise the Council’s nominees as Company Members of Leasowe 
Community Homes to agree the necessary changes to Leasowe 
Community Homes Memorandum and Articles of Association as set out 
in Appendix 3.

6) Authorise the Council’s nominees as Company Members to vote on the 
changes (and associated matters) proposed and referred to in this report 
at the forthcoming Leasowe Community Homes Meeting.

7) Refer these agreed decisions to the full Council meeting on 19 December 
2016 for confirmatory approval to the extent that they relate to non 
Executive functions such as the Council’s housing policies but subject 
to the condition that the Board of Leasowe Community Homes is 
satisfied after carrying out due diligence enquiries that the proposed 
arrangements are viable and in the interests of the company and its 
tenants.

8) That the Council nominated Members on the Board  of Leasowe 
Community Homes undertake and be provided with all requisite training 
necessary to be an effective Director on the Board of Leasowe 
Community Homes

9)  The Call-in procedure shall not apply to these (Executive) decisions, the 
Chief Executive having agreed it is in the public interest that they be 
taken as a matter of urgency on or before 19 December 2016 which is the 
deadline Your Housing Group has set for the Council’s approval of the 
changes referred to above. 

Page 128



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

3.1 To enable LCH to become a better and more viable provider of social housing for its 
current and future tenants by replacing its existing legal relationship by one with 
another suitable housing association.

3.2 To enable LCH to become involved in more diverse activities by equipping the 
company with a Board which is sufficiently skilled to have effective oversight of a more 
complex business and to manage the associated risks.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 Initially it was hoped that a partnership of equals could be established with Pierhead 
Housing Association (PHA) with both it and Leasowe Community Homes nominating 
members to newly created Parent Board which would oversee both bodies.  
Unfortunately it has become apparent in discussions with the Homes and Community 
Agency that the latter would not approve such an arrangement and that the only viable 
alternative was for LCH to come a subsidiary of PHA.  

5.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

5.1 The operating environment has changed dramatically since the transfer of the 
Council’s housing stock in Leasowe to LCH in September 1999.

5.2 At transfer there was a board of 15 comprising five local authority nominations, five 
tenants and four independent people and Liver (Arena/YHG). YHG holds 51% of the 
company’s votes in a general meeting with the remaining 49% split equally between 
the tenants and the Council.

5.3 In 2014 the Board and Company Members agreed to a change of board directors’ 
terms of office to three terms of three years in order to comply with the National 
Housing Federation (NHF) Code of Governance recommendations and that tenant 
and Council board directors would go through the same interview process for places 
on the Board. The latter was agreed in September 2015

5.4 A Minority Protection Agreement drawn up at the date of transfer was interpreted as 
meaning that decisions of the Board (e.g .approval of the business plan) require the 
agreement of a majority of the Directors in each of the categories nominated by YHG, 
the Council and the Tenants. This has not recently worked well because of 
disagreements between all three categories of Board Directors.

Page 129



5.5 LCH is proposing to make changes to its constitution in the light of wider scale 
changes in the housing association sector and to forge a new relationship with PHA.

6.0 THE IMPETUS FOR CHANGE

6.1 Social housing is under considerable pressure: reductions to rents charged, cuts to 
current operating budgets, lack of demand and reduced lettings income following 
benefit reductions for LCH’s traditional tenants, reduced and/or no grant or subsidy for 
new build developments mean that resources are no longer available to run the social 
housing business as they once were

6.2 There has been an increasing number of complaints about the services to tenants 
delivered by YHG on behalf of LCH pursuant to a service level agreement which 
culminated in a petition from tenants to LCH. This has been combined with 
disagreements between LCH and YHG over the cost and quality of the services 
delivered centrally by YHG to LCH as one of its subsidiaries.

6.3 As a Charity and Registered Provider, LCH’s ability to use its funds for non-
charitable/non-social housing purposes is strictly limited. It can only do so where there 
is a very strong business case and its charitable assets would not be at risk. LCH 
would therefore never be in a position where it was expected to fund risky activities or 
those that may not be in accordance with the investment criteria for charities 
prescribed by the Charity Commission and the HCA.

6.4 The LCH Board agreed that it needed to develop into more diverse areas of work to 
create other income streams that would replace or supplement previous public 
subsidies. Moving into building social housing, build for sale, build for shared 
ownership, together with the development of joint ventures are all new and challenging 
activities that should be explored. They offer potential rewards but with significantly 
different risks. It is essential that the Board of the company has the skills to manage 
those risks, ensuring that profits are made which are brought back to LCH to replace 
lost government subsidy. Those activities can be pursued through its proposed 
constitutional arrangements with PHA including the joint creation of a commercial 
subsidiary to carry out those activities which will bring income to replace the reduced 
public subsidies.

6.5 For risk management reasons as well as taking regulatory guidance, LCH needs to 
ensure that it has a sufficiently skilled and experienced Board to have oversight of 
such new ventures.

6.6 It is clear from the HCA that they require expect stronger commercial and business 
skills from LCH’s Board for the future.

Page 130



7.0 THE EXPECTATIONS OF THE REGULATOR

7.1 The HCA has flagged up concerns that the Housing Association Boards should be 
sufficiently skilled to be able to understand the more diverse activities that they would 
be involved in.

7.2 All registered housing associations must operate to a recognised code of governance. 
LCH has adopted the ‘NHF Code of Governance: promoting excellence for housing 
associations’. The main expectations with reference to this review of L’H's governance 
are:

 Board Directors must act in the interests of the organisation and not on behalf 
of or representing any constituency or interest group

 The Board should be at least five and no more than twelve members

 Recruitment to board vacancies must be open and transparent and be based on 
the board’s considered view of the skills and attributes required to discharge its 
functions

 Maximum tenure for all non-executives must in total be nine years

 When a board member is nominated or elected, the organisation “must ensure 
that those coming forward bring skills and experience that meet the needs of 
the board, and that they are fully aware in advance of the responsibilities that 
they will undertake. New board members must not be appointed without 
undergoing a due selection process to establish their suitability.”

7.3 Seminars and articles from leading figures such as Julian Ashby, Chair of the 
Regulation Committee at the HCA have been increasingly urging boards to ensure 
they are sufficiently skilled. In September 2013, Julian Ashby said that the HCA had 
dealt with a number of cases where poor governance had led to ineffective risk 
management. Those boards did not have sufficient skills to challenge or did not 
recognise the need for specialist or professional advice and he called on providers to 
regularly appraise their mix of expertise and ensure their boards are fit for purpose by 
refreshing and renewing skills regularly. This advice has consistently been reinforced 
and early this year Julian Ashby advised boards that if they did not have the necessary 
skills for diverse activities then they should not be involved in those activities.

7.4 In order for the HCA to be able to test the effectiveness of boards and their 
organisations a new system of In-Depth Assessments (IDAs) are now being carried 
out on registered housing associations. Through review of the company’s 
documentation and intensive work on site, the HCA wish to ensure that governance 
and financial arrangements in each housing association do not put the social housing 
assets at risk. The HCA will be looking for evidence that the board has credible plans 

Page 131



and they will wish to obtain assurance that the board has the skills and drive to deliver 
those plans. The LCH Board understands that an IDA would consider a range of 
areas: strategy, structure, financial resilience, risk profile mitigation and governance. 

7.5 Under governance the HCA will test the Board’s understanding of business planning, 
management reporting and forecasting. They will wish to see the level of individual 
Board skills and effectiveness and the interface with the executive.

7.6 Through IDAs the HCA is ‘raising the bar’ in assessing registered providers’ 
compliance with the regulatory standards and whether they are fit for purpose in a 
much more difficult operating environment. A key element will be the level of skills and 
experience on the Board to manage what will be more challenging businesses going 
forward.

7.7 The regulator has published four volumes of ‘Learning from Problem cases’ over the 
last twenty years. These reports chronicle, in some detail, the failures in the housing 
association sector. They are produced for boards and executives to learn from the 
mistakes and setbacks of others so as to avoid encountering similar fates.

7.8 The latest volume was published by the HCA in June 2015 and covers Cosmopolitan 
Housing Association (a Liverpool housing association that was brought to the brink of 
insolvency due to weak governance and management and a number of financial 
issues). Whilst there is a range of factors leading to problem cases the report sets out 
that the greatest root cause of failures has been through weak governance. The report 
states that ‘in today’s tough business environment, boards need skill, grip and effective 
teamwork if they are to exercise proper oversight of the executive and the operations 
of the organisation.’

7.9 The report goes on to highlight that ‘we are seeing a higher bar for the standard and 
skills and competencies required for non-executives’ and ‘we are now seeing – if not 
universally – a more ruthless focus on skills, capabilities and the depth of knowledge in 
much board member selection.’ The problem cases highlighted show that poor 
governance and risk management with, in many cases, weak board skills and 
oversight in more risky and complex non-social housing activities can lead to 
spectacular failures. One of the lessons is to ensure the board have the skills to 
oversee the new ventures that are part of the organisation’s aspirations. This is a 
theme that Julian Ashby the Chair of the Regulation Committee at the HCA regularly 
comes back to as set out earlier.

7.10 In short the HCA expect housing associations to be involved in more diverse activities 
but that their boards are sufficiently skilled to have oversight of a more complex 
business and able to manage the associated risks.

Page 132



8.0 LEASOWE COMMUNITY HOMES INDEPENDENT REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE

8.1 In 2015 LCH commissioned an independent governance review using Capsticks (a 
specialist national housing consultancy). They reviewed LCH’s governance 
arrangements and completed a study on best practice in Large Scale Voluntary 
Transfer housing associations (LSVTs).

8.2 Capsticks referred to the changed operating environment and the need for appropriate 
skills and experience for a board to be able to control, support and direct the 
organisation in its business objectives and the fact that the NHF Code of Governance 
and HCA Regulatory Framework have both been strengthened in this regard.

8.3 Capsticks review of LCH’s Board found that:

 All board directors agreed that with the future challenges a more skills base 
Board was required

 All board directors agreed that there were currently skills gaps, particularly 
around finance and business and commercial skills

 Many noted that the board relies on a small number of key board directors

 There was concern over the imbalance between focus on strategy and on day 
to day operations

 There were mixed views on the size and composition of the board whilst 
agreement that it needs to be skills based

 There was a view that the annual appraisal process needed reviewing

 It was felt existing tenant involvement was very effective

 Governance documents needed to be reviewed and updated, particularly the 
scheme of delegation

8.4 Capsticks made a series of recommendations:

 LCH move to a skills-based board and consider reducing the size of the board

 Nominated board directors should go through the same skills based 
appointment process as all other board directors

 If the board decides to move away from constituencies altogether, that 
arrangements be established to ensure adequate engagement with tenants

Page 133



 Committee structures to be streamlined and task and finish groups to be 
considered for other business

 Revise the supporting governance documents

 Reduce the level of operational detail in reports and focus more on strategy

8.5 The report will be available to the HCA as part of any future IDA or regulatory review of 
LCH. The HCA would expect the LCH Board to have taken account of it and to have 
acted on the findings of an external independent review.

9.0 SKILLS AND APPRAISALS

9.1 Following the Capsticks review, the LCH Board agreed a set of skills that will be 
required moving forward to more diverse activities. The list of agreed skills is attached 
at Appendix 1. 

9.2 From the surveys undertaken by Capsticks, board directors collectively identified a 
range of skills gaps, a number of which will be required for the future operation of the 
business going forward:

 Business growth and diversification

 PR and Communications

 HR

 Housing Management and service delivery

 Property development

 Legal services

 Commercial and financial skills

9.3 From previous discussions LCH has already noted that it will wish to retain skills that it 
has acquired in its early years work. These have included community development, 
resident perspective, tenant involvement, local authority and public sector working and 
voluntary and community work.

9.4 However from the above analysis there is a number of skills not presently in place 
which will be required for the future operation of the business going forward 
undertaking more diverse activities.

Page 134



9.5 The Board undertook a skills gap analysis / appraisal process at the end of March 
2016 which, together with an agreement on the skills required  against its future work 
programme, will inform the Board’s future structure.

10.0 WHAT ARE OTHER LSVTS DOING?

10.1 It is clear that the vast majority of LSVT housing associations have made significant 
changes to their governance structures. Many have moved away from constituencies 
which have equal numbers of board directors in each.

10.2 The NHF has also conducted a survey to 154 LSVT housing associations receiving 
responses from 76. Amongst their findings are:

 29 now do not have a local authority board director, 12 have one and 11 have 
two on the board, the remaining 19 who responded have three or four

  For tenants there is a wider spread. 11 do not have tenants on the board, 6 
have one, 30 with two or three on board, 15 have four and 11 have between 
five and nine.

10.3 Several organisations have moved away from the constituency model to a purely skills 
based approach without any nominations via constituencies.

Altair conducted a good practice study of LSVT associations as part of their review of 
governance of Magenta Living.

They concluded that most (70 out of 76) LSVTs have adjusted their governance 
structures due to the changed operating environment and need for business 
diversification. Most have moved to a more skills based board and most had moved 
away from the standard constituency model to a board that includes more 
independents with the required relevant skills. This has been done by reducing the 
number of tenant and council places but in the main still reserving a minimum number 
of constituency places.

11.0 PIERHEAD HOUSING ASSOCIATION

11.1 PHA was selected by LCH’s Board as the preferred partner in a process which is 
described in the Detailed Business Case attached as Appendix 2.

11.2 The expected benefits to tenants are set out in the Detailed Business Case as are the 
projected financial consequences which are positive but subject to the outcome of the 
due diligence enquiries commissioned by LCH’s Board.  These have now been 
completed to the satisfaction of the Board.

Page 135



12.0 WIRRAL COUNCIL APPROVAL

12.1 Officers and Board Directors from LCH have met with Officers of the Council and the 
Cabinet Member for Housing, outlining the issues detailed in this report.

12.2 From the discussions it was agreed in principle and subject to Council approval that:

 LCH and PHA create a new parent entity with its own skills based board that would 
govern LCH ( in place of YHG) and PHA in accordance with the provisions of an Intra 
Group Agreement which would define the  extent of the autonomy given to LCH’s and 
PHA’s Boards.  Unfortunately as described above these proposals did not find favour 
with the HCA and have been replaced by a model which would broadly replicate the 
existing constitutional arrangements with LCH being a subsidiary of PHA in 
substitution for YHG.

 Under the new Articles (in Appendix 3), the Board will consist of between 5 and 12 
members of whom 2 will each be nominated by the Council and LETA (the Tenants 
Association) until 31 March 2020.

 The existing Directors would be eligible to apply for a place on a skills-based Board 
and would undergo an interview process by an interview panel of the LCH Board.  If 
they failed to match the required skills they will not be appointed and alternative 
candidates would have to be nominated by the Council and LETA.

 It can reasonably be anticipated that the Councillors currently serving on the Board will 
have between them some of the skills required to be on a skills based Board.

 At the time that any director (not nominated by either the Council or LETA) comes to 
the end of their term of office, and a vacancy occurs, any individual from any 
background or sector, who has the necessary skills, will be eligible to apply.

 PHA will have the right to remove or appoint Board members to give it a controlling 
majority in the circumstances set out in Schedule 5 of the Intragroup Agreement (in 
Appendix 4) viz broadly if the Directors are in breach of their legal obligations.

12.3 The Council’s decision making process will require these proposed arrangements to 
be approved by the Cabinet and the recommendation to be subsequently approved at 
a full Council meeting. 

12.4 If the full Council agree to the governance changes the Council’s existing Company 
Members would be required to attend a general meeting of LCH and cast the Council’s 
vote in favour of the necessary changes to LCH’s Articles of Association.

12.5 Once agreed, the changes will be incorporated into LCH’s Articles of Association.

Page 136



12.6 The Minority Protection Agreement would come to an end and be replaced by the 
Intragoup Agreement in Appendix 4 which defines the limited autonomy to be given to 
LCH (a requirement of the HCA which expects PHA to have the necessary powers to 
regulate LCH).

12.7 A timetable for Company Member consultation and holding a General Meeting of 
Company Members has been drawn up which will pick up the Council’s decision 
making process which is set out below.

13.0 THE COUNCIL’S SHARE’

13.1 Under the existing constitution at a General meeting of the company the Council has 
one vote which is worth twenty four and a half percent of the voting rights. The tenant 
members have one vote which is worth twenty four and a half percent of the voting 
rights and the Independent/YHG members have a share of the remaining fifty one 
percent of the voting rights.

13.2 For any special resolutions such as changing the name of the company or changing 
the company’s articles, under company law, 75% of the company membership must 
vote in favour of the resolution for it to be passed. As the Independent/YHG vote is 
worth 51% of the total vote the Council has what has become known as a ‘Golden 
Share’ as it is in effect a veto over the other two constituencies represented at a 
company meeting unless they act together against the Council

13.3 Under the new Articles of Association the members of the company will be PHA and 
up to 12 directors of whom 2 will each be nominated by the Council and LETA.  The 
Council and LETA will cease to be Company Members when Directors cease to be 
nominated by them on 31 March 2020 (or earlier if the law so provides as explained in 
Section 15 below).

14.0 TIMETABLE

14.1 The proposed date for implementation of the above changes is 31 March 2017 which 
in turn requires all the necessary documents to be lodged with the HCA no later than 
28 February 2017.

14.2 LCH’s consultation with its tenants over the proposed changes has now been 
completed.  The tenants broadly support the proposals as the best that can 
reasonably be achieved in the circumstances in which LCH finds itself.

14.3 In order to achieve this target date, the Cabinet is requested to consider and 
recommend approval of the proposal to full Council at its meeting on 19 December 
2016 and because of the urgency dictated by this timetable to remove the right of 
members to call in the proposed decision

Page 137



15.0 THE HOUSING AND PLANNING ACT 2016

15.1 The above Act received the Royal Assent on 12 May 2016.  Section 93 gives the 
Secretary of State the power to create regulations with the purpose of “limiting or 
removing” the ability of councils to “exert influence” over registered providers whether 
by appointing or removing Directors or by exercising voting rights.

15.2 For LSVTS such as LCH this appears to include removing a local authority’s ability to 
nominate board directors and also the authority’s voting rights at a general meeting.

15.3 The Government’s approach is to ensure that housing associations can be classified 
as independent bodies rather than public sector bodies. This follows the 
reclassification of housing associations as ‘public non-financial corporations’ by the 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) late last year given the amount of control exercised 
over them by government or other public bodies. The Government made an immediate 
commitment to bring in changes necessary to prompt the ONS to reverse this decision 
and, in January, laid a number of deregulatory amendments to the Housing and 
Planning Bill intended to address the ONS' concerns.

15.4 It is unknown at this stage what these changes will look like and how LCH’s 
constitution could be amended by the new powers. It is recommended that given the 
Council and LCH have started to make similar changes already that Cabinet agrees to 
the changes highlighted in this report. Should legislation be passed which makes 
further changes then these will then be implemented as a matter of law before 31 
March 2020 (which is the latest date in the new Articles of Association for the removal 
of the Council’s right to be a member of LCH and to nominate Board Members).  After 
31 March 2020 the only members of LCH will be PHA and independent members of 
the Board selected in accordance with their ability to exercise the skills require by the 
company.

16.0 RELEVANT RISKS

To the Council:

16.1 The Council is a Company Member of LCH holding twenty four and a half percent of 
the membership. It is essential that the Board of LCH is fit for purpose, in order to 
ensure effective decision making mitigating any risk to the Council’s reputation and 
interests in the Company.

16.2 It is in the Council’s interests to have a vibrant locally based and locally managed 
housing association which owns around one thousand units of the social housing in 
the borough. The status quo cannot ensure that outcome since it has led to 
disagreements with YHG which have impaired the efficient delivery of services.

To Leasowe Community Homes:

Page 138



16.3 If LCH does not change its governance structure it would be at risk of increased 
scrutiny by the HCA .

16.4 Moving into more diverse activities and not having the most appropriate skills on the 
Board could result in decisions being taken without full appreciation of implications 
which could have seriously adverse consequences. It would be no defence that the 
Board Directors did not have sufficient skills to understand the decisions taken.

16.5 YHG and LCH accept that their current working and legal relationships are not 
satisfactory and should be replaced by LCH’s subordination to another suitable 
housing association in accordance with the requirements of the HCA.

16.6 PHA is a suitable partner for the reasons set out in the attached Detailed Business 
Case but this assessment is subject to the outcome of due diligence enquiries into the 
assumptions made by the Detailed Business Plan attached as Appendix 2.  Those 
enquiries have been completed to the satisfaction of the Council’s nominees on the 
Board.

16.7 Taking no action to revise LCH’s governance structure would make it very difficult to 
undertake the diverse activities required in order to provide further income to the 
Company and to carry out its social housing functions to the satisfaction of its tenants.

17.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

17.1 This relates to the structure of Leasowe Community Homes so there are no financial 
implications for the Council.

18.0 FINANCE IMPLICATIONS

18.1 None

19.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

19.1 This relates to Leasowe Community Homes governance arrangements so there are no 
legal implications for the Council other than for the Council’s rights as set out in the 
constitution of LCH.

20.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

20.1 LCH has consulted with Board members and Senior Officers from the Council on the 
proposed changes. It is intended, subject to Council approval, that LCH further put 
these changes to a formal vote at its General Meeting.

20.2 LCH has consulted with representatives of the tenants on the proposals

Page 139



21.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

21.1 There are none except to the extent that the proposals should lead to the improvement 
of LCH’s services to tenants including those with “protected characteristics” as defined 
by the Equality Act 2010

REPORT AUTHOR: Colin Hughes
Group Solicitor
telephone:  (0151) 691 8502
email: colinhughes@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES 

1) Leasowe Community Homes Board Required Skills

2) The Detailed Business Case( exempt from publication as it contains commercially 
sensitive information relating to LCH,YHG and PHA). (EXEMPT)

3) The proposed amended Articles of Association.

4) The proposed Intragroup Agreement. 

REFERENCE MATERIAL

Due diligence reports on the proposed constitutional arrangements between LCH and PHA( 
exempt from publication as they contain commercially sensitive information relating to 
YHG,LCH, and PHA )

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 140



Appendix 1

Leasowe Community Homes Board Director - Required Skills

Relevant Experience and Skills – Essential

1. Board Director or Governance experience 
2. Operational experience at a senior level
3. Strategic leadership
4. Financial Management 

- Accountancy 
- Treasury management 
- Business 
- Audit 

5. Asset Management 
- Property development and sales
- Property management
- Construction
- Housing management
- Regeneration

6. Risk management
7. Change management
8. Performance management
9. Business growth and development
10. Customer services
11. Commercial business skills 

Relevant Experience and Skills – Desirable
 
1. Legal

- company 
- constitutional
- business - contracts 
- charity 

2. Stakeholder engagement 
3. Community involvement
4. Marketing 
5. Public relations 
6. ICT

Knowledge – Desirable

1. Registered Providers 
2. Regulatory Framework
3. Political and economic environment 

- welfare reform 
- devolution
- housing strategy 
- planning

4. Probity
5. Local knowledge

Page 141



6. Mergers and acquisitions 
7. Health and social care 
8. Social investment 

Abilities - Essential 

1. Team working
2. Integrity 
3. Independent judgement
4. Creative and clear thinking
5. Analytical skills
6. Communication skills 
7. Networking 
8. Equality and diversity

Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Document is Restricted

Page 223

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 225

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Delivering Wirral's Growth
	6 Statement of Accounts and Annual Audit Letter 2015/16
	Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 2016

	7 Revenue Monitoring 2016/17 (Quarter 2)
	8 Capital Monitoring 2016/17 (Quarter 2)
	9 Treasury Management Monitoring Mid-Year 2016/17
	10 Medium Term Financial Strategy and Council Tax Budget 2017/18
	11 Tax Base 2017/18
	12 Budget Council Agenda and Procedure - 6 March 2017
	13 WIRRAL PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE: 2016/17 QUARTER 2
	14 Disposal of Acre Lane Professional Excellence Centre Bromborough
	Acre Lane Site Plan

	15 Changes to the Governance Arrangements - Leasowe Community Homes
	Leasowe Community Homes Appendix 3
	Leasowe Community Homes Appendix 4

	18 Disposal of Acre Lane Professional Excellence Centre Bromborough - exempt appendix
	19 Leasowe Community Homes Constitution - exempt appendix

